

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

11-16-2023

Perspectives of Healthcare Human Resource Leaders on the Gender Pay Gap

MaKormick Christopher Claypool Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

MaKormick Claypool

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Cheryl Anderson, Committee Chairperson, Health Services Faculty

Dr. Christopher Miller, Committee Member, Health Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Perspectives of Healthcare Human Resource Leaders on the Gender Pay Gap

by

MaKormick Claypool

MPhil, Walden University, 2023

MHA, Louisiana State University-Shreveport, 2021

BS, Purdue University Global, 2019

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Health Services

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Healthcare leaders are challenged with perceived pay gaps based on gender. A qualitative case study methodology was used to triangulate data from three sources to investigate the phenomenon of perceived pay gaps based on gender. The experiences and perceptions of 12 human resource leaders were the main source of data. The lived experiences of five female healthcare workers were also gathered to understand the perspectives of females who may perceive that women earn less than men. The third source of data was document analysis of human resource policies on pay from three organizations. The study was guided by situational leadership theory and feminist theory. Human resource leaders and female healthcare workers participated in interviews that were audio recorded, transcribed, and coded for themes. Data were loaded into Nvivo to assist with thematic analysis. The overarching themes were the existence of stereotypes related to pay and household responsibilities based on gender, perceptions of females in the workplace, and feelings of limited growth for women in health care. The emerging themes included women falling into expected household responsibilities, insidious pay discrepancies, and limited leadership and mentoring of women in health care. The results of this study may promote positive social change in recognizing that gender pay gaps exist and that leaders need to strive to eliminate pay disparities.

Perspectives of Healthcare Human Resource Leaders on Gender Pay Gap

by

MaKormick Claypool

MPhil, Walden University, 2023

MHA, Louisiana State University-Shreveport, 2021

BS, Purdue Global University, 2019

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Health Services

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this study to all the strong women role models in my life. I am grateful for a wonderful mother who put her career aspirations on hold to raise four children. I am grateful for my twin sisters who pushed through school and achieved greatness through their efforts and careers. I am grateful for my grandma's, aunts, sisterin-law, and cousins who have held careers and being mothers to their children. Most importantly, I am grateful for a very strong woman in my life, and that is my wife. I am thankful for how hard my wife has pushed me during this process and never gave up on my efforts, late nights, or just being myself during this long process. My wife is a hard worker who was able to bear three beautiful children while in medical school. Your passion of becoming a physician and helping women, inspired me to write this dissertation and become a future scholar in my research and efforts. Thank you for your kindness and leadership, and your unconditional love. I know this study will help you achieve your aspirations, our children, and all that read it. Thank you to all the women that have touched my life and helped me become who I am today.

Acknowledgments

I would first like to acknowledge and thank my wife who was able to be extremely supportive of my aspirations to obtain a Ph.D. While we have had a crazy ride the past few years of you starting medical school, my Ph.D. program, getting pregnant with our son, and now twins, moving all over the U.S., and so much more, we are a great team, and I would not want to do it with anyone else.

I want to thank my parents who instilled the importance of education and diligent hard work in my siblings and me. Gratitude cannot express how much I am grateful for your support and diligence in pushing me to become better. Even when I struggled growing up with learning disabilities, you never gave up on me and continued to support my education. Thank you for believing in me when many did not.

I want to thank my siblings for their love and passion for learning. It is amazing that each of us have our own stories and each of us have found passion in our education for what we desire most in our careers. Even though growing up, I was not part of the AP classes or as smart as the three of you, I will always be grateful for each of your hard work and perseverance through education. I strive to be more like each of you in different ways and I am grateful to be your brother.

I want to thank my two committee members, student success advisor Garth, and all the professors and faculty at Walden University. First, my two committee members; Dr. Cheryl Anderson and Dr. Chris Miller. Thank you for working with me as a student, and putting up with me to be honest. I know through my persistent efforts; I can be a

handful at times. Thank you for your support, guidance, respect, and devotion to what you do. I am deeply grateful and will always cherish this journey together. I hope to work on future research together. Second, my student success advisor Garth. Garth, if it was not for you, I would not be where I am today. You provided unconditional support for me during my Ph.D. You were respectful and a leader to me, and I will forever be grateful and in your debt. You pushed me and believed in me as a person, and because of you, I was able to push myself too. Thank you, Garth. Third, all the professors and faculty at Walden University. During the course of obtaining my Ph.D., I met a lot of sincere and genuine people at Walden University. I had never heard of Walden prior, and I am grateful for choosing this program. The variety of professors that taught me, I am grateful for their diligent passion in teaching what they love. Attending residencies, I met many wonderful people. The faculty and professors at Walden University have inspired me to want to become someone new and do so many great things. Thank you to everyone for my opportunity to become a scholar with my Ph.D.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	5
Purpose of the Study	6
Population	6
Sample	7
Research Question	8
Conceptual Framework	8
Nature of the Study	11
Definition of Terms	11
Assumptions	12
Scope and Delimitations	13
Limitations	14
Significance of the Study	15
Summary and Transition	16
Chapter 2: Literature Review	19
Literature Search Strategy	19
Historical Context of Gender Inequity	21
Current Context of Gender Inequality	25

Conc	eptual Framework	32
Revie	ew of Research Methodology	40
Conc	lusion and Summary	42
Chapter 3	3: Research Method	44
Meth	od and Design Appropriateness	46
Popu	lation	47
Role	of the Researcher	48
Samp	ple	48
Resea	arch Questions	49
Ethic	es, Informed Consent, or Confidentiality	51
Criter	ria for Quality in Research	53
Data	Collection	54
Instru	umentation	55
Data	Analysis	56
Sumr	mary	56
Chapter 4	4: Results	59
Settin	ng of Study	60
Demo	ographics	60
Data	Collection	61
Data	Analysis	64
Fyide	ence of Trustworthiness	67

Results67
Interview Question 1
Interview Question 2
Interview Question 3
Interview Question 4
Interview Question 5
Interview Question 6
Interview Question 780
Interview Question 8
Interview Question 983
Interview Question 1084
Interview Question 1187
Interview Question 12
Interview Question 1389
Interview Question 1490
Interview Question 1591
Themes and Emerging Themes
Theme 1: Stereotypes of the Household Gender
Theme 2: Perceptions of Females in the Workplace
Theme 3: Limited Growth Opportunities for Women Based on the
Industry96

Emerging Theme 1: Women Falling into the Household Responsibilities9	98
Emerging Theme 2: Limited Leadership and Mentoring of Women in a	
Profession10)()
Observation of Human Resource Policies)2
Summary10)4
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations)5
Interpretation of the Findings)5
Limitations11	14
Recommendations for Further Action	16
Implications for Social Change	100102104105114116119121
Conclusion	21
References	24
Appendix: Final Interview Guide	50

List of Tables

Table 1. Search Strategy for Underpaid women in Healthcare & Gender Pay	Inequity20
Table 2. Research and Interview Questions	50
Table 3. Qualitative Demographics	61

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

World Health Organization (WHO), 2019). Women typically make up the major patient-facing workforce in health care (Berlin et al., 2022). The most female-dominated role in healthcare is nursing (Dolcemascolo, 2019). Women make up 76% of healthcare jobs, with 87% of women being nurses (Liss, 2021). In the past and present throughout health care, women have been the primary gender found throughout all positions (Russell et al., 2022). In the healthcare industry, one of the most controversial issues with men and women is the pay structure American Association of University Women (AAUW), 2016). Women tend to work in lower-level positions compared to men, which results in them receiving lower pay (Layne, 2017). However, positions that are held by both men and women also result in women receiving less compensation than men, despite having the same job (Timewise, 2022). Women who work in the same healthcare positions as men with the same qualifications, education, experience, get paid up to 24% less than men (Mahase, 2022). Pay inequity is an issue for women.

Women in healthcare fall behind men in assuming leadership roles (Kalaitzi, 2019). Women are hindered by numerous barriers (Kalaitzi, 2019). These barriers include workplace harassment, bullying, stereotypes, gender pay inequity, leadership advancement, and discrimination (Villines, 2021). Women are choosing to pursue more education to help them get promoted towards higher pay and leadership opportunities to

gain access to the C-suite jobs and improve the diversity of leaders in the healthcare workforce (Fontenot, 2012).

Over the past several decades, women have continued to be supervised by men through clerical or secretarial needs (Yellen, 2021). Men continue to be in the seat of power, as women are overlooked regardless of education or experience (Tinsley & Ely, 2019). The lack of depth for women leaders in the U.S. healthcare sector continues to be perplexing and a challenging issue (Hauser, 2014). Women make up the majority of the healthcare workforce and experience untapped resources for the leadership and pay gaps presently available (Reddy, 2022).

Gender pay issues have been well studied globally and, in the United States (Braddy et al., 2019; Braithwaite, 2018; Butkus et al., 2018; Hangartner et al., 2021; Hoff & Lee, 2021; Kalaitzi et al., 2019; Mahase, 2022; Samarasekera, 2022; Spector et al., 2019; Zeinali, 2022). Few researchers have investigated the issue of gender pay inequity from the perspective of human resource leaders in health care organizations. This study addressed this gap by seeking the perspectives of health care human resource leaders about pay inequity based on gender.

The remaining sections of Chapter 1 provide the background for the study, the problem statement, the purpose, the main research question, the conceptual framework, the nature of the study, the definition of terms, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, significance of the study, and a summary and transition.

Background

The health care environment has experienced dynamic changes in the past two decades (Guo et al., 2022). Female-dominated roles such as nursing are experiencing an influx of males to the health care profession (Barrett-Landau & Henle, 2014). Women are moving into formerly male-dominated roles as physicians and health care leaders (Boyle, 2021). Women have typically provided direct patient contact and have also been responsible for the administrative duties in healthcare systems through clerical, secretarial, patient care, billing, insurance, claims, hospice, and so forth (Berlin et al., 2022). At the beginning of the century, men held most executive leadership positions such as: CEO, COO, accounting, financial, all C-suite jobs, and the board of directors (Charas et al., 2015). Men were the dominant workers holding executive leadership positions, along with physicians and those delegating work (WHO, 2019). Women were working under men and following their direction and leadership (Berlin et al., 2022).

Gender equity is an ongoing concern throughout all industries Steenbergen & Peterson (S&P Global), 2021). Women in health care roles lack fair gender equity for payment compared to men (Reddy, 2022). In leadership and C-suite positions, women are not found in those positions in as high of numbers as men (Eagly & Carli, 2012). However, women comprise of 76% of the healthcare workforce (Lantz, 2008). Women are underrepresented in management, leadership positions, and fair pay roles (Lantz, 2008). Women still make up the majority of the healthcare workforce; however, for those

leadership positions in careers such as physicians, managers, executives, and the C-suite, women are not found as often (Berlin et al., 2022).

Gender inequity has been a constant barrier throughout the workforce (Albanesi & Sahin, 2018). The healthcare industry will continue to grow and more jobs will be in high demand in the future (AMN Healthcare, 2018). In the United States, there are over 1,073,616 physicians who consist of both men and women (Michas, 2022). Of that total, 45.8% of physicians are men, with 54.2% being women (Zippia, 2022). Women get paid \$0.84 for every \$1 a man earns as a physician (Zippia, 2022). The healthcare sector consists of nurses, clerical, facilities, equipment, technicians, transportation, facility care, hospice, emergency services, and other roles (User, 2022). Women in leadership roles differ hugely from men in the healthcare industry (Meagher et al., 2021). A crucial issue that needs to be addressed is the influence on healthcare settings by individuals as different gender roles are played in leadership positions and gender equity (Biancheri & Landi, 2017).

Female physicians who have the same education, experience, and qualifications compared to male colleagues are paid less (Carnevale et al., 2018). After insurance adjustments are calculated for the physician's compensation, female healthcare physicians found inside of hospitals, facilities, and private practices with both men and women are reimbursed less than male physicians (Desai, 2016). The human capital approach, in which various explanatory variables are used to shrink the perceived size of the gap, is often used to argue that much of the gap is due, not to discrimination, but

differing investments in employment by women and men (Lips, 2012). Women experience higher gender inequity when pursuing to become a physician (Miller & Vagins, 2017). Women are not found in many physician roles compared to men, thus making it difficult to compare salaries and positions with other women in these roles, and they often find themselves facing gender inequity (Yang, 2020). In other areas of healthcare, the pay structure is fairly the same between men and women (Warner & Lehmann, 2019). Throughout each industry, human resource leaders are responsible for the process of recruiting, hiring, training, and providing the compensation package for employees (ADP, n.d.). With the ongoing gender pay gaps, human resource leaders choose the hourly and salary compensation packages for employees (Heartpace, 2019). This study explores the perspectives of healthcare human resource leaders on gender inequity between male and female healthcare workers.

Problem Statement

The problem addressed in this study is that women continue to face pay inequities while working in an industry that is well regulated and monitored by federal pay regulations (Coleman et al., 2022). Differences in pay may relate specifically to human resource policies that provide tacit approval to pay differences based on gender or gender-linked occupations (Ainsworth & Pekarek, 2022). The phenomenon of interest was how women specifically in healthcare constantly face challenges and barriers that limit their ability to fully be treated fairly in their careers (ALobaid et al., 2020). In this study, I sought the perspectives of human resource managers in health care about their

experiences and thoughts on pay gaps based on gender. Women in healthcare get paid 24% less than men in the same positions and careers (Mahase, 2022).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of Human Resource leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps. The phenomenon chosen for this study was how women in healthcare experience gender pay gaps compared to men, through the perspectives of human resource healthcare leaders (Schieder & Gould, 2016). In healthcare, women and men sacrifice their time and attention to getting years of education and experience to have their dream careers (Marcus, 2016). Careers require people to put forth finances to accomplish the steps needed to obtain degrees and become part of an organization (Thompson, 2016). Female healthcare workers put fourth years of education to compete with men in the same roles (Yang, 2020). Women continue to experience gender inequity and other barriers that prevent them from achieving their careers in the healthcare industry (Larsen et al., 2019).

Population

This study was delimited to the responses of 12 human resource leaders who were in different Human Resource departments found throughout the healthcare system.

Interviews were conducted with people that identified as HR professionals found in hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals, long-term care facilities, assisted living facilities, hospice, home care, specialized and non-specialized medical and dental clinics, labs, and

additional healthcare systems. The second group of responses consisted of five women who are working throughout healthcare in positions found in hospitals, clinics, and the healthcare system throughout the United States that could include physicians, nurses, technicians, aides, administration, and other careers. The third source of data was the observation of HR hiring policies with a specific focus on hiring and pay scales dependent on job experience, education, salaries, and qualifications for roles that both men and women reside in for pay scales.

Sample

The 12 human resource leaders in healthcare, and the five women working in healthcare roles selected for this study are scattered throughout the United States. This provides data collection through different parts of the country to provide a variety and not a study biased to only one area of the United States. The interview guide was field tested by two healthcare executives with over 5 years of experience in the field of human resources, and the coding table was peer-debriefed twice by two healthcare executives for additional perspectives. Two subject matter experts field tested the two interview guides. For the case study and triangulation of this study, the two different interview groups consisted of the 12 human resource leaders, and the five women working in healthcare roles, resulting in the third source of data being the observation of specific HR policies and pay scales for men and women based on their education, experience, and qualifications to determine pay differences.

Research Question

The research questions for this study were the following:

- Main research question: What are the experiences and perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps?
- Sub question A: What are the perspectives of HR leaders in health care organizations towards possible gender pay differences?
- Sub question B: What are the perspectives of HR leaders in health care organizations toward possible facilitators that may assist with creating gender pay differences?

Conceptual Framework

The theories that grounded this study include the situational leadership theory and feminist theory as it examines inequalities in gender-related issues. The feminist theory uses a conflict approach to examine gender roles and inequalities (Conerly et al., 2021). For instance, radical feminism focuses on the family in the male dominance of perpetuation. Feminist theory identifies how gender is a factor on how humans are represented in reality. There is a constant problem of epistemic identification on the female subject as humans analyze gender differences and theorizing feminist politics concerning feminism and multiculturalism (Dietz, 2003).

Situational leadership theory is a repeatable framework used for leaders to match their own behaviors with individuals of their needs in an attempt to influence them (Hersey et al., 1979). The situational leadership theory uses logical and internal inconsistencies, conceptual ambiguity, incompleteness, and confusion with a relationship based on between the leader and follower based on their performance readiness. (Graeff, 1997). Auspurg et al. (2017) mentioned two theoretical approaches that identify wage gaps as: same gender referent theory and reward expectations theory. The first theory discusses women who compare their earnings with other underpaid women. The second theory argues that both women and men value gender as a variable that leans towards lower expectations for how much gender should be paid compared to their work (Auspurg et al., 2017). Many factors have been known to be the root cause of compensation differences for female healthcare workers based on specialty choice, experience, hours worked, work and family life, as well as mentors and role models (Butkus et al., 2018).

Situational leadership theory allows a leader to adapt in any situation and be able to perform as a leader with diverse groups of people (Cherry, 2023). Although there are diverse groups of ethnic backgrounds, races, religions, gender, and much more, a leader must be able to balance different backgrounds to be an effective leader (Epadmin, 2023). When a leader does not promote equality through a unified workplace, this can prohibit diverse groups of people functioning efficiently to do things in different situations (Bourke & Titus, 2021). Each situation in a workplace can be different, such as one gender that is dominant over the other, minorities in leadership roles, inequality of gender

in different roles, or minors working alongside elderly employees (Stamarski & Son-Hing, 2015).

Different situations in the workplace cause different occurrences for leaders to govern and lead in situations (Abrams, 2021). The situational leadership theory allows that a leader is not tied to one type of style when they are leading a group of people (Wolf, 2022). Situational leadership theory promotes that the most successful and effective leaders are able to observe the environment of people, and adapt to the diversity, while being able to react on the spot on how to manage, lead, govern, and provide the most effective leadership style for the team being lead (Daugherty, 2022). Each group of people or individual person has their own needs and wants, and a leader who is able to adapt to their individual needs, while upholding their qualities and unifying a team at the same time, provides the best person that makes up the situational leadership theory (Villines, 2021).

While the situational leadership theory allows a leader to adapt to any situation or diverse group of people, leaders must be able to understand how to lead groups of females that result in a feminist theory approach (University, 2020). Throughout different industries, gender is an issue where gender inequalities occur in leadership roles, advancement, minorities, pay, and population (Gould et al., 2016). The feminist theory focuses specifically on the inequalities of women found in different roles of an industry based on individual minorities of race, sex, ability, and class (Veenstra, 2011). Women might be found in other industries compared to men, but the lack of women results in

opportunities to allow other women to promote equality through gender, and thus providing justice and women found everywhere for equality in the workplace (Dietz, 2023). It is essential for situational leadership and feminist theory to work hand-in-hand to further promote a unified workforce of equality in the workplace for all genders, race, ethnicity, and backgrounds (Hershey et al., 1979). Through these two theories, women are recognized as equal to men to provide equality through all things in the workforce and society (Cherry, 2023).

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was a qualitative case study. Qualitative case studies enable a complex phenomenon to explore the identification of different factors pertaining to the interaction with each other (Debout, 2016). Case studies provide an approach to gather and obtain in-depth, multifaceted information to identify a complex issue in a real-life situation (Crowe et al., 2011).

A qualitative case study includes triangulated data (Noble & Heale, 2019). The three data sources for this study include interviews with healthcare human resource leaders, interviews with healthcare workers who identify as female, and observation and analysis of human resources documents related to pay policies of at least three health care organizations.

Definition of Terms

The following terms are operationalized by this study.

Career advancement: The process of professionals in a workplace in different industries that take their skill and knowledge and apply it forward to help themselves determine and achieve new career goals with opportunities to grow towards (Indeed Editorial Team, 2020).

Discrimination: A forbidden law of prejudice treatment of recognition and understanding for any type of person, that includes ethnicity, sex, age, or disability (Kleinberg et al., 2018).

Gender equity: A social condition where both men and women have equal rights through an equaled balance of power, status, opportunities, and rewards (Rolleri, 2013).

Gender pay gap: A measurement between men and women of the differences each receive based on hourly or salary earnings that work part-time or full-time (Hoff & Lee, 2021).

Physical compensation: The act of rewarding someone based on their actions or performance in the form of money currency, or rewarding someone to make up for loss, damage, or injury for the appropriate matter (Parent, 2023).

Radical feminism: The philosophy of inequality between men and women or specifically the social domination of women by men through rights, privileges, and power as oppressed women and privileged men (Lewis, 2020).

Assumptions

This study was based on five assumptions: (a) healthcare human resource leaders would be able to speak on their perspectives toward possible gender pay differences; (b)

healthcare human resource directors would be able to speak on their perspectives towards possible facilitators that create gender pay differences; (c) women in healthcare worker positions would be willing to share their personal lived experiences with potential ongoing gender pay issues; (d) the data collected would help to fill in some of the gaps in understanding potential gender pay issues between men and women in the healthcare sector from the perceptions of human resource leaders; and (e) a human resource leader is someone who constitutes pay, benefits, hires and onboards an employee. Leadership found in clinics, hospitals, dental offices, and more often times have providers and owners that make up the human resource roles. This results in human resource positions not having specific people in these roles, and instead having the owners and medical providers oversee and manage these responsibilities.

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of this study was potential gender-pay gaps from the perceptions and perspectives of healthcare human resource leaders where women in healthcare are being paid less than men in the same roles (Mahase, 2022). Gender-pay gaps are defined as a measurement between men and women of the differences each receive based on hourly or salary earnings that work part-time or full-time (Hoff & Lee, 2021).

This study was delimited to the responses of 12 human resource leaders and five women working throughout healthcare positions found in hospitals, clinics, and the healthcare system throughout the United States. The participants completed one-on-one

virtual interviews through the Zoom online meeting platform (https://zoom.us), and the responses were recorded for transcription, and coding.

The participants selected for this study were scattered throughout the United States in a variety of cities. This provided data collection through different parts of the United States to provide a variety and not a biased study to only one area of the United States. For the case study and triangulation of this study, the two different interview groups did consist of the 12 human resource leaders, and the five people who identify as females working in healthcare roles. A third source of data was the analysis of available documents such as HR policies, published hiring practices, and compensation based on qualifications for healthcare roles.

Limitations

Possible barriers of this study include being able to pinpoint a day and time where interviews with human resource leaders are available to discuss the research questions. Day-to-day operations did prohibit the flexibility of interviews being scheduled with healthcare management and human resource leaders. People identifying as males in financial positions or human resource positions could have inherited bias or prejudice feeling towards this topic and therefore would choose to forgo an interview or response. Smaller clinics or outpatient centers might be easier to collect contact information depending on quantity of female to male ratio. Another barrier is finding the time and commitment of female medical professionals to coordinate the time and day for interviews. However, with a constant issue, this study would result in that women would

want to be a part of it to spread their voice of the barriers they face especially with gender pay. A potential challenge to address to would be males in healthcare would participate in this study and provide their experiences towards the research that will be studied.

Another limitation is being able to hone down and interview people that have the title as a human resource leader. A human resource leader is someone who constitutes pay, benefits, hires and onboards an employee (Srivastava, 2020). Leadership found in clinics, hospitals, dental offices, and more often times have providers and owners that make up the Human Resource roles. This results in human resource positions not having specific people in these roles, and instead having the owners and medical providers oversee and manage these responsibilities, thus causing a limitation of not interviewing direct human resource titles.

Significance of the Study

This study was significant in healthcare, as women make up 77.6% of healthcare workers (Statistics, 2022). Women continue to face barriers and challenges that prevent them from being paid fairly, barriers to leadership, and culture stereotypes that cause issues from respected women in the workplace on all levels (AAUW, 2016). Women primarily make up the healthcare workforce (Day & Christnacht, 2021) but continue to be underrepresented and treated unfairly in the workplace (Krivkovich et al., 2022). Researchers have continued to find an epistemology in past research as many people determine that women continue to face barriers with their goals not just in healthcare, but

all industries (Sibeoni et al., 2020). Women receive the same education and experience as their male colleagues and still are paid less (Gould et al., 2016).

This study did seek to understand HR management perspectives on gender-pay gap. HR leaders in healthcare are the group that hires and structures the pay of healthcare workers (Lytle, 2020). This study did provide a better understanding of this process.

Summary and Transition

Women need to be able to prepare the future path of women in leadership positions in all industries but specifically for this study in healthcare (Mahase, 2022). Men continue to dominate the leadership and C-suite roles in healthcare (Berlin et al., 2022). There has been and continues to be inequality for men and women, and women deserve to be treated equally and fairly through all things. Equal pay for physicians both male and female should be respected, especially when men and women have the same education and experience (Gould et al., 2016). Women should not be prejudged about being biased or prejudice towards men and should be given the opportunity, just like men to be able to show leadership skills and manage in leadership roles (Butkus et al., 2018). Kirchheimer (2007) mentioned that some women in leadership roles are more successful than men because they do not view the world as men versus women.

Women in healthcare should be given the ability to have fairness through advancement and working the higher C-suite roles, such as CEOs of hospitals. Men have always been the business type of people, resulting in men being CEOs of hospitals (Charas et al., 2015). Women bring the empathetic ability to be more emotionally

attached or thought out for choices and decisions (Yang, 2020). Men mainly act on their knowledge, whereas women tend to act on their feelings and look at everything that is in place (Kachel et al., 2016). Sexton (2014) discussed that women are significantly underrepresented in hospital management positions, and because of this, gender disparity has changed over the past decades showing the struggles and barriers women face to achieve leadership roles. For the future of healthcare, if a woman has the same experience and education compared to a man, instead of being biased and automatically giving the position to a gender where the enforcer is being biased, all future leadership healthcare positions should be equal to both men and women. More women should be given more management positions to prepare them for higher C-suite level positions including CEO of the hospital. Women found in leadership positions will promote unity between men and women in future roles of leadership in healthcare (AAUW, 2016).

Through research and learning, women in the healthcare industry are equal to men through non-leadership positions based on pay wages (Layne, 2017). Women found in healthcare roles such as physicians, management, or C-suite management positions, women have and continue to be treated unfairly (Mangurian et al., 2018). Unequal pay in leadership to being overlooked for advancement is not being fair and is discriminating against women (Butkus et al., 2018). Women who have the same education and experience as their male co-workers are being surpassed by the stigma of men in leadership roles, and women beneath them. While this has occurred in the past, more women are starting to progress into more physician opportunities; however, in

management and leadership roles also found in the C-suite, women are rarely found. In healthcare, women and men should be treated at equal levels through pay, advancement, management, and all leadership roles (Berlin et al., 2022).

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Chapter 2, the review of current literature, presents an exhaustive investigation into the available peer-reviewed articles surrounding gender inequity, gender pay gap, and perspectives of human resource leaders around gender pay disparities. The first section of this chapter presents the search strategy used to secure the needed articles. The second section presents the historical context that is foundational to this study. The third section provides the current context that specifically address current gender pay inequity in healthcare. The fourth section presents the conceptual framework between situational leadership theory, feminist theory, human resources, and healthcare pay. The fifth section presents the methodology literature. The sixth section presents the research design literature. The seventh section presents the conclusion and chapter summary.

Literature Search Strategy

The first phase of the literature review involved searching for available peer-reviewed journals in the databases of EBSCO, Google Scholar, and the Walden Library. Within these databases, a variety of search terms, abbreviations, and phrases were used, including *gender inequity under-paid*, *under-paid female healthcare workers*, *human resources*, *perspectives and perceptions of human resources*, *healthcare workers*, *peer-reviewed*, *2018-present*, to produce over 5,100 articles covering the main sections of Chapter 2. Of these articles, there were 13 main research topics that were measured for their relevance highlighting the importance of this topic. These articles were used for the second phase of the literature review.

 Table 1

 Search Strategy for Underpaid women in Healthcare & Gender Pay Inequity

Database	Search terms	Results	Notes
EBSCO	Underpaid; peer-reviewed journal; 2018-present	130	Too broad, does discuss different industries; home health, nursing, healthcare, women unnoticed
EBSCO	Underpaid women; peer- reviewed; 2018-present	16	Underpaid women, home health, underpaid bosses, women vulnerability
EBSCO	Underpaid women; healthcare; peer-reviewed; 2018-present	5	Underpaid home care workers, Black and Latino women, Athletic trainers
EBSCO	Underpaid women; human resources; peer-reviewed; 2018-present	3	Too specific, but narrowed information. Black and Latino female workers underpaid, Covid-19 post affects women.
EBSCO	Perspectives of Human Resources; gender pay gap; peer-reviewed; 2018-present	0	Too specific, but proves limited to no research providing the GAP
EBSCO	Human resources; gender pay gap; peer-reviewed; 2018- present	40	Gender pay gap constant issue, real wage growth, immigrants, human resource management
EBSCO	Gender inequity; peer- reviewed; 2018-present	1,365	Too broad, needs to be narrowed
EBSCO	Gender inequity; healthcare; pay gap; peer-reviewed, 2018-present	2	US, sexism in medicine, health services, medical, anesthesia research, quality control, policy, women's health sciences
EBSCO	Gender inequity; healthcare; peer-reviewed, 2018-present	338	More articles when it's not narrowed down to just pay gap. Nursing research, sexual and gender diversity. Healthcare policy, transgender being attacked. Blood testing, trauma, underserved populations, search is too broad.
EBSCO	Healthcare; gender equity; USA; peer-reviewed; 2018- present	149	Vision care, caregivers, child health, randomized controlled trials, rural health, racial differences, sexism, women's empowerment, abortion healthcare, discrimination, too broad and random topics
EBSCO	Gender equality; USA; peer-reviewed; 1971-2022	5,025	Too broad, not narrow to a specific industry
EBSCO	Gender equality; USA; healthcare; peer-reviewed; 1994-2022	119	Narrower on search, 185 is more ideal for healthcare narrowed research, need to select 20-30 articles that hit the point

The second phase of the literature review focused on excluding irrelevant articles from the first phase. The articles from the first phase were loaded into EndNote.

Duplicate articles from the first phase were removed. The remaining articles were reviewed by title. Articles with titles that did not relate to this study, like menstrual, women or planned parenthood, gender norms, articles outside of the USA, gender-based violence, protection for women of sexual violence, and additional articles, were excluded. The abstracts from the remaining articles were reviewed. Articles with abstracts that did not relate to this study were excluded. The remaining 119 articles were organized. Of the 119 articles, 13 were classified as supporting the historical context and frameworks of gender equality, four articles supported fair gender pay, and four articles supported the case study design.

Historical Context of Gender Inequity

The 14th century poet and writer, Christine de Pizan expressed that the oppression of women is founded on irrational prejudice, specifically pointing out the challenges that women face advancing in society (Pizan, 1405). Female sexuality and feminism support was disclosed through a medieval poem and most commonly referred to as *Le Roman de la Rose* written by Jean de Meun, a 12th and 13th century author. *Le Roman de la Rose* expands the brutality of the vices of women in life and how men outwit them (Lorris et al., 1998). It was said in the 13th century by poet Matheolus, that addresses marriage and discusses how women make men's lives miserable (Matheolus, 1295). Christine de Pizan wrote a book after reading Matheolus's words and feeling ashamed to be a woman

(Pizan, 1405). In the 11th and 12th centuries, Blanche of Castile was the Queen of France and acted as a regent twice (Jeandet, 2023). Blanche of Castile proved to be a strong female leader who was able to perfectly adapt to situations of leadership and governing while being able to work with other male counterparts (Hameed, 2022). In the 20th and 21st centuries, Elizabeth II became the longest female monarch who was able to reign as Queen of the United Kingdom (O'Neill, 2022).

Women were barred from speaking at antislavery conventions let alone most public outings in the 18th century (Elliott, 2020). In 1848, Americans Elizabeth Stanton and Lucretia Mott gathered hundreds of women for the first women's rights convention demanding civil, social, political, and religious rights for women (Gaur et al., 2022). Stanton expressed that all men and women are to be created as equals (Ginzberg, 2020). In 1873, over 32,000 women signed a petition presented to the parliament of New Zealand, upon which New Zealand became the first self-governing nation in 1893 to allow women to vote (Heritage, 2018). On March, 8th, 1911, Women's Day was created in honor of women's suffrage and labor rights (Pruitt, 2017).

During World Wars I and II, women were driven to take on "untraditional" jobs as men headed to war (Academy, 2022). Through this time, Rosie the Riveter was a symbol for women's empowerment (Cokely, 2020). After World War II, in 1945, the United Nations was formed standing for equal rights of men and women (Nations, 2022). In 1946, the Commission on the Status of Women became the first global intergovernmental body dedicated to gender equality (Brown, 2023). In 1946, Eleanor

Roosevelt read a letter addressed to women of the world that they needed to have an increased involvement in national and international affairs (Women, 2021). By the 1980s, women in most countries were able to vote and are still fighting for leadership positions (Keohane, 2020). In the 20th and 21st centuries, women have been seen as world leaders, industry leaders, Olympic athletes, political voices, and revolutionizing the world working alongside their male counterparts with a seat at the table (Women, 2021). Shirley Chisholm, the first black female congresswoman, said, "if they (pertaining to men) do not offer you a seat at the table, bring a folding chair" (Chisholm, 2020).

Women are found throughout the workforce in several different industries (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS, 2021). Pay inequity, otherwise known as the gender pay gap, has been found throughout the world where women are paid less than men (Barroso & Brown, 2022). In 1944, the Sex bill was introduced but never passed for equal pay of women (Archives, 2023). Throughout time, the Civil Rights Act and other Acts discussed the importance of fair pay and equal right for women (Fisher, 2022). Still, according to Wade (2001), women do not fight on their own behalf for pay requests or leadership advancement because they have learned more times that they lose more than they gain.

In the 1860s, gender wage gap became a political issue known as the equal pay for equal work (Daugherty, 2022). When Susan Anthony and Elizabeth Stanton fought for women's rights and the right to vote, once passed, women had the opportunity to vote for fair pay in the wage gap (Archives, 2023). In the 1940s, a bill was created by Winifred Stanley, detailing the active discrimination against employees specifically in the

compensation on the accounts of sex, and the bill never passed through Congress (Politico, 2022). In the 1960s, more than two decades later, the Equal Pay Act passed, prohibiting employers from paying male and female workers different wages for jobs that required equal education and qualifications (U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), 2023). The Equal Pay Act, however, did allow the exceptions of pay structures being created based on seniority or merit (Michel, 2016). At the time of the bill passing, then-President John F. Kennedy cited that the average woman worker earns only 60% of the average wage for men (Frontiers, 2020).

In 1964, the Civil Rights Act Title VII focused on wage gap specifically addressing compensation based on color, race, sex, religion, and national origins, followed by sections outlining employers can choose to pay based on seniority and merit-based wages (Hentze & Tyus, 2021). Regardless of legislative forefronts over the past 100 years on gender pay gap, women were making \$0.60 for every dollar earned by a man in 1960, followed by \$0.70 for every dollar earned by a man in 1990, and in 2020, women earn \$0.83 for every dollar earned by a man (Iacurci, 2022). Although the wage gap has narrowed over the past 100 years, many people have proven that women continue to get paid less than men in the same positions regardless of equal education and qualifications (Gould et al., 2016). Throughout the world, women consist of 75% of the healthcare workforce (WHO, 2023), but women only make up about 4 in 10 healthcare leadership positions (Minemyer, 2019). Women who work in the same healthcare

less than men (Mahase, 2022). In the second half of the 20th century, pay levels for men and women have greatly converged, but it is well documented that women are not paid equally to men (Ponthieux & Meurs, 2015).

Current Context of Gender Inequality

In healthcare, the gender pay gaps exist where female physicians are earning \$2 million less than men over their career (Smith, 2021). Males found in surgical specialties earn \$2.5 million more than female surgical physicians, while male physicians found in primary care are earning nearly \$1 million more than female primary care physicians (Hortsman, 2022). Female nurses are paid \$10,000 less than male nurses of the same qualifications (Vohnoutka, 2022). Women found in nonclinical positions are paid \$0.77 to the dollar men earn, resulting in \$21,320 less per year in the same positions (Barroso & Brown, 2022). Research showed that hospitals run by the U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs to maintain gender equality for compensation in the dermatology department and should serve as a model to close the gender pay gap throughout the healthcare workforce (Do & Lipner, 2020). For several decades, the Pan American Health Organization has implemented the importance of health equity to help strengthen health systems (Etienne, 2022). Women in healthcare identify themselves as being discriminated and handicapped by individualism, gender inequality, unfair pay, and differences preventing them from being treated as equals to their male colleagues (Korolija et al., 2022).

Gender bias is found in education, politics, government, and all other jobs (Ahmed et al., 2022). Women serving in management roles within academics and

practitioners is essential for the advancement and equal opportunities for women (Bass, 2019). Women are found throughout society, the workplace, and the household, but continue to be less valued than men (Etienne, 2022). Throughout the health workforce, gender plays a vital role (Newman, 2014). Women and their devotion to work and being underpaid has reflected their gender resulting in not fitting in the economic mold and being underrepresented (Meleis & Lindgren, 2002). Women found in leadership positions in government organizations implement different policies than men and are found to be more supportive by other women (Downs et al., 2014). The concern for gender inequality is vital for the success of different industries between men and women (Block et al., 2019).

Throughout the world, women face a burden of disease and death due to the inequities of access to health care, education, and nutrition (Downs et al., 2014). There has always been a fair goal for gender equity and equality both nationally and internationally (Harris, 2021). The expansion of healthcare is fundamental for the future of human security and rights (Belhadj & Touré, 2008). Regardless of how steps have been taken over the past 100 years on gender pay, people do not understand the importance of gender diversity and how it influences the future of innovation (Bass, 2019). Gender bias results in the female gender being underrepresented and undervalued compared to men (Ahmed et al., 2022). Research has shown in healthcare the constant gender discrimination and inequalities found in education and employment between men and women (Newman, 2014). The future of health promotion globally and in the United

States has been central to the defining role of gender and how gender is implemented in the production and growth of advancing programs and policies by men and women (Restar et al., 2021). The future of healthcare is vital for equality between men and women in leadership positions and equal pay throughout the industry (Etienne, 2022).

The reason behind women facing a burden of disease and death results in the disparity of women not found in leadership roles in the field of health while men are leaders and neglect gender equality (Downs et al., 2014). Gender inequity is derived from the globalized capitalistic model detailing work with producing income or the production of goods (Meleis & Lindgren, 2002). Gender diversity is just as important as compensation equality to ensure women are treated equal to men throughout industries (Bass, 2019). The female gender is underpaid and undervalued in many careers such as healthcare, STEM (science, technology, engineering, mathematics) education, cinematography, food, sports, and many more (Ahmed et al., 2022). Although men are commonly found in science, technology, engineering, and math positions, men also dominate in healthcare, early education, and domestic roles compared to women (Block et al., 2019). While the world progresses into new inventions, ideas, lifestyles, or diseases being cured, challenges occur with many people being left behind unable to grow into the future (Belhadj & Touré, 2008). The Pan American Health Organization has emphasized the importance of creating career pathways for women, and increasing opportunities for women to serve in leadership roles (Etienne, 2022).

Current gender frameworks have been built on the historical context of men in leadership roles, while women stand behind men with many gender inequalities occurring (Restar et al., 2021). Equality for gender in the workplace has resulted in an integral part of the United States (Mansh et al., 2015). The Pan American Health Organization has emphasized the fundamental importance of gender equality as it impacts the social norms and prevents stereotypes (Etienne, 2022). The result for a larger pay gap is the occupational segregation and working hours (Korolija et al., 2022). A cross-sectional case study detailed how women with the same education and experience as men that chose the same medical specialty were paid less than men resulting in a gender pay gap (Do & Lipner, 2020). As men control leadership positions throughout STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics) and HEED (Healthcare, Early Education, Domestic) careers, women express the little attention pertained to men and how they do not notice or take action on women being discriminated against for leadership positions (Block et al., 2019). Of those who are left behind, unable to advance into leadership positions or grow into careers, a vast majority are women (Belhadj & Touré, 2008).

Studies have shown that an increase of women in leadership roles results in businesses and government being more successful than when men dominate leadership positions (Zenger & Folkman, 2021). Women have experienced their rights to be garnished and frequent gender inequality and equity resulting in women not found in leadership roles of healthcare and paid less than men with fewer opportunities of advancement and growth (Restar et al., 2021). There has been a constant increase

between gender- and race-based disparities found within academic medicine and healthcare leadership in civilian medicine and the U.S. military healthcare system (Massaquoi et al., 2021). The biggest representation people notice in careers, is gender description where one gender is larger than the other resulting in gender equality (Block et al., 2019). Constant gender populations have experienced disparities including access to health care, stigmatization, and discrimination (Mansh et al., 2015). Constant disparities due to gender and ethnicity have stood out, resulting in unfair pay or unequal leadership advancements in the workforce (Etienne, 2022). Researchers studying gender disparity have found that in funding, leadership, and compensation, men are favored over women in leadership roles and higher pay (Do & Lipner, 2020). Gender equality and women's empowerment is crucial for the growth of women in the healthcare industry (Korolija et al., 2022).

The human development is pertinent as unified individuals are able to work together and created equal to maximize the future outcomes (Belhadj & Touré, 2008). If the world focused on the value of work, this would enhance a women's ability to be treated equal through the social, health, and policy standpoints of leadership and fair pay (Meleis & Lindgren, 2002). Research has shown that women attaining early career leadership positions during training and 2 years after their residency results in higher chances of leadership opportunities and career advancement over their male colleagues (Massaquoi et al., 2021). People constantly perceive gender imbalances in maledominated careers because men are found in more leadership roles than women resulting

in the unfair career advancement and suspected higher pay gaps (Block et al., 2019). Researchers have argued that gender minorities in healthcare must lead the charge for equality through diversity and inclusion found in medicine (Mansh et al., 2015). Women and men should be equal decision makers and unified through leadership positions in healthcare as unified team players (Etienne, 2022). Gender equality should be a priority for Human Resource leaders to promote research, leadership, and governance (Newman, 2014).

In the United States, active-duty military members for healthcare roles, results in only 15% as women (Massaquoi et al., 2021). Gender differences in salary is well documented throughout the healthcare workforce (Do & Lipner, 2020). While women make up 9 out of 10 nurses, only ¼ of executive positions in the healthcare system are held by women (Etienne, 2022). Increasing female leadership in the health workforce is feasible and fundamental towards addressing women's health (Downs et al., 2014). Women have been left behind through human development, often times with their ideas and personal well-being not treated equal to men in leadership and equity (Belhadj & Touré, 2008). Fair treatment of advancement and pay equity is vital for the dynamics of the health workforce (Newman, 2014). As new policies are implemented to promote pay equality and diversity of men and women in healthcare, this will promote safe environments for training and practices to ensure diverse groups of people in the healthcare workforce (Mansh et al., 2015).

COVID-19 has been one of the most consequential health crises in the past century of the world (Etienne, 2022). The health and social welfare sectors focus on reducing budgets for women and ignoring equal opportunities for women to compare to men worldwide (Meleis & Lindgren, 2002). Diversity of gender and the elimination of unequal pay between men and women will provide equalized opportunity for both men and women in health systems as they are unified working into the future (Newman, 2014). Promoting female leaders in the workforce will enable mentorship for other females to grow into more education, experience, and choosing a health career path for equality between men and women (Downs et al., 2014). While women represent nearly 75% of the health workforce, they earn on average 28% less than men (Korolija et al., 2022). Male physicians have reported significantly higher compensations than female physicians in private practice (Do & Lipner, 2020). Those who are poor, resort to having insecurity, food shortages, limited access to healthcare, and are unable to prevent diseases (Belhadj & Touré, 2008). If Human Resource leaders don't correct and act upon discrimination and unfair inequities of women, this will result in healthcare system inefficiencies that will impede the development of the healthcare workforce into the future of today's critical health needs (Newman, 2014).

The COVID-19 pandemic affected and placed multiple challenges in America, especially on the healthcare workforce (Etienne, 2022). Research has shown that females are frequently under-represented in leadership roles found throughout healthcare (Korolija et al., 2022). Women have been underrepresented in both STEM (Science,

Technology, Engineering, Mathematics) and HEED (Healthcare, Early Education, Domestic) career industries (Block et al., 2019). Women in military have expressed that they feel gender plays a significant role in leadership positions, specifically in healthcare and men are more dominant in this field (Massaquoi et al., 2021). Women result in higher attrition due to the lack of females found in health leadership roles (Downs et al., 2014). In the world of oncology, women make up less than 17% of leadership roles occupied by women (Korolija et al., 2022). Human Resource leaders lack the attention to the discrimination and inequalities found between men and women in labor rights and employment (Newman, 2014). The COVID-19 pandemic provided the ability to show how women are not found in leadership positions compared to men or how women are paid unequal to their male colleagues found in the same roles and positions (Etienne, 2022).

Conceptual Framework

The theories that ground this study include the situational leadership theory and feminist theory. The feminist theory uses a conflict approach to examine gender roles and inequalities (Conerly et al., 2021). For instance, radical feminism focuses on the family in the male dominance of perpetuation. Feminist theory identifies how gender is a factor on how humans are represented in reality. There is a constant problem of epistemic identification on the female subject as humans analyze gender differences and theorizing feminist politics concerning feminism and multiculturalism (Dietz, 2003).

Situational leadership theory is a repeatable framework used for leaders to match their own behaviors with individuals of their needs in an attempt to influence them (Hersey et al., 1979). The situational leadership theory uses logical and internal inconsistencies, conceptual ambiguity, incompleteness, and confusion with a relationship based on between the leader and follower based on their performance readiness. (Graeff, 1997). (Auspurg et al., 2017) mentions two theoretical approaches that identify wage gaps as: same gender referent theory and reward expectations theory. The first theory discusses women that compare their earnings with other underpaid women. The second theory argues that both women and men value gender as a variable that leans towards lower expectations for how much gender should be paid compared to their work (Auspurg et al., (2017). Many factors have been known to be the root cause of compensation differences for female healthcare workers based on specialty choice, experience, hours worked, work and family life, as well as mentors and role models (Butkus et al., (2018).

Leadership is commonly known as a group or people or person(s) that are responsible for leading and growing a business or organization (Prentice, 2022).

Leadership within organizations have been a challenging topic to discuss, because of the fairness and equality of those serving in positions (Bourke & Titus, 2021). Having the right person that is qualified in that role, impacts the significant success of a business or organization towards its growth (Keller, 2017). Those serving in these roles provide their guidance, motivation, and inspirations to focus on where the organization is currently,

and how it will achieve the goals it has planned for the future (Ketchen et al., 2014). Most commonly found in leadership organizations is the situational leadership theory as it relates to leaders working with others that make up an organization (Cherry, 2023).

Situational leadership theory provides leaders to carry out responsibilities of directing, coaching, and supporting (Whitehead, 2016). Directing is the ability for a leader to take their thoughts and goals and apply them forward with the assistance of team members as they execute what needs to be done to move forward (Loblack, 2023). Coaching is the ability for a leader to then take current team members and helping them acknowledge their own tasks and what needs to be done in order to achieve success (Ibarra & Scoular, 2022). Support is the ability for a leader to then provide additional assistance or help to team members or colleagues to offer resources and guidance at what the end goal is and how to achieve it (Corporate Finance Institute, 2022). Situational leadership eliminates a one style approach to addressing problems, fixing solutions, and working with team members (STU, 2022). Situational leadership provides multiple ways of leadership that can be executed while working with team members and how to achieve goals and accomplish tasks (Wolf, 2022).

Situational leadership has become essential for the growth and production found in different industries (IMD, 2023). Healthcare makes up both men and women, while some genders are more dominant than others (Vlassoff, 2007). Leadership found in healthcare has been found through administration, medical doctors, nurses, non-medical roles, and many others (IOM, 2011). Situational leadership was originally developed by

Blanchard and Hersey (STU, 2022). Situational leadership has been proven successful in healthcare as it relates to adapting to situations that arise from contingencies (Rabarison et al., 2013).

Situational leadership in healthcare provides a direct support role to different situations that can arise and provides leaders to work with others in different formats while still being able to achieve providing care to patients (Sfantou et al., 2017). While each person receives feedback and direction differently, situational leadership theory focuses on leaders being able to understand how their subordinate's function and help lead and adapt to their individual styles (Cherry, 2023). Women are found in leadership positions less often than men, women can feel a burden or struggle with working in a male dominant field (Kiessig, 2021)). Both male and female leaders in healthcare are able to use situational leadership theory to help identify the best approach to working with their colleagues and getting things done (Bioneers, n.d.). Women are dominant in non-management roles in healthcare compared to men (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2021).

Regardless of men or women in healthcare management, situational leadership theory provides the ability to control outcomes to influence team members towards a proactive movement and creating a successful outcome (Al-Sawai, 2013).

Feminist theory focuses to understand the complete nature of gender inequality (Eastern Kentucky University, n.d.). Men and women have worked together for the last hundreds to thousands of years (Devlin, 2015). From the early ages to present day, men and women have always been around (Migdol, 2021). In different industries, men and

women are found serving in different roles as they work in harmony towards the future (Miller & Borgida, 2016). Some industries have dominant genders compared to others, resulting in gender inequality (Parker, 2020).

Gender inequality otherwise known as gender discrimination is a more dominant gender found in a setting compared to the other gender, resulting in the lesser gender feeling underprivileged or underrepresented (Stamarski & Son-Hing, 2015). Over-time, gender inequality has been found in different industries across education, healthcare, business, agriculture, entertainment, and much more (Funk, 2020). Aside from gender inequality found, additional inequalities occur through race, color, origin, demographics, culture, disabilities and more (Ndugga & Artiga, 2021). With higher gender inequality being found across platforms, it provides the ability for unfair pay, unfair leadership advancements, and promotes that men and women are not equals (Women, 2022).

Feminist theory provides people in society to better understand and work together when there is active unequal relationships between men and women (Crossman, 2020). Feminist theory helps people to understand common challenges that women experience as they gain social equality compared to men (COE, 2022). While men are found in more leadership and management positions, feminist theory provides the acknowledgement, how women aren't found in management roles (Soklaridis & Lopez, 2014). The feminist movement has resulted in major impacts of women getting access to education, healthcare, voting rights, equal pay, and women's rights or women's suffrage (Congress, 2023). Feminist theory emphasizes the importance of women being treated as unequal to

men in a variety of categories (Lee et al., 2020). Equality is essential for both genders to feel respected and as equals to become unified and work towards the future (Director et al., 2021).

Feminist theory in healthcare has been commonly referred to women not found in management (Shai et al., 2021). Healthcare leadership is a male-dominated field (Healthcare, 2021). Men have often had easier roads to travel and are groomed for leadership roles (Barrett & Moores, 2006). Women have often struggled to achieve management roles, let alone getting access to moving up the corporate ladder while dealing with a glass ceiling (Eagly & Carli, 2018). Limited women in healthcare leadership results in women being undermined by men, and treated as unequal (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2021). Women in healthcare, fight to have a seat at the table for management and leadership (Palmer, 2022). The feminist theory can provide people in healthcare with the ability to understand how women are not in leadership which can result in other issues that women experience such as pay gaps and leadership advancement (Gould et al., 2016). The feminist theory is essential to eliminate sexism in healthcare to provide an equal and unified healthcare system into the future (Rogers, 2006). An article by Okin (1994), discusses that the feminist theory applies to the fact that woman are often neglected in large organizations where bias and sexism occurs through women being mistreated and are excluded in a variety of leaderships and using their voice to speak up. An article by Ferguson (2017), mentions that feminist theory doesn't just apply to women, but it also revolves around the world and how the world

perceives women through everyday needs. Where women already have struggles and differences, Ferguson (2017) emphasized that the women are viewed as weaker than men and unable to perform at the same level as men, resulting in the feminist theory as a gender discrimination theory and women are treated as unequal's throughout the world in everything.

Situational leadership theory allows a leader to adapt in any situation and be able to perform as a leader with diverse groups of people (Cherry, 2023). While there are diverse groups of ethnic backgrounds, races, religions, gender, and much more, a leader must be able to balance different backgrounds to be an effective leader (Epadmin, 2023). When a leader does not promote equality through a unified workplace, this can prohibit diverse groups of people functioning efficiently to do things in different situations (Bourke & Titus, 2021). Each situation in a workplace can be different such as: one gender that is dominant over the other, minorities in leadership roles, inequality of gender in different roles, or minors working alongside elderly (Stamarski & Son-Hing, 2015).

Different situations in the workplace, causes different occurrences for leaders to govern and lead in situations (Abrams, 2021). The situational leadership theory allows that a leader is not tied to one type of style when they are leading a group of people (Wolf, 2022). Situational leadership theory promotes that the most successful and effective leaders are able to observe the environment of people, and adapt to the diversity, while being able to react on the spot on how to manage, lead, govern, and provide the most effective leadership style for the team being lead (Daugherty, 2022). Each group of

people or individual person has their own needs and wants, and a leader who is able to adapt to their individual needs, while upholding their qualities and unifying a team at the same time provides the best person that makes up the situational leadership theory (Villines, 2021).

While the situational leadership theory allows a leader to adapt to any situation or diverse group of people, leaders must be able to understand how to lead groups of females that result in a feminist theory approach (University, 2020). Throughout different industries, gender is an issue where gender inequalities occur in leadership roles, advancement, minorities, pay, and population (Gould et al., 2016). The feminist theory focuses specifically on the inequalities of women found in different roles of an industry based on individual minorities of race, sex, ability, and class (Veenstra, 2011). Women might be found in other industries compared to men, but the lack of women results in those that identify this as an inequality of gender (Ilo, 2011). More women pursue opportunities to allow other women to promote equality through gender, and thus providing justice and women found everywhere for equality in the workplace (Dietz, 2023). It is essential for situational leadership and feminist theory to work hand-in-hand to further promote a unified workforce of equality in the workplace for all genders, race, ethnicity, and backgrounds (Hershey et al., 1979). Through these two theories, women are recognized as equal to men to provide equality through all things in the workforce and society (Cherry, 2023).

Review of Research Methodology

Qualitative case studies enable a complex phenomenon to explore the identification of different factors pertaining to the interaction with each other (Debout, 2016). Case studies provide an approach to gather and obtain in-depth, multi-faceted information to identify a complex issue in a real-life situation (Crowe et al., 2011).

Gender disparity has been researched and found that in funding, leadership, and compensation, that men are favored over women in leadership roles and higher pay (Do & Lipner, 2020). The result for a larger pay gap is the occupational segregation and working hours (Korolija et al., 2022). Research has shown that women attaining early career leadership positions during training and two years after their residency results in higher chances of leadership opportunities and career advancement over their male colleagues (Massaquoi et al., 2021). Constant disparities due to gender and ethnicity have stood out, resulting in unfair pay or unequal leadership advancements in the workforce (Etienne, 2022).

A cross-sectional case study detailed how women in healthcare that received the same education and experience as men were paid less than men resulting in a gender pay gap (Do & Lipner, 2020). While women represent nearly 75% of the health workforce, they earn on average 28% less than men (Korolija et al., 2022). There has been a constant increase between gender and race-based disparities found within academic medicine and healthcare leadership in civilian medicine and the US military healthcare system (Massaquoi et al., 2021). As COVID-19 started in early 2020, the pandemic affected and

placed multiple challenges in America, especially on the healthcare workforce (Etienne, 2022). While women make up 9 out of 10 nurses, only ¼ of executive positions in the healthcare system are held by women (Etienne, 2022).

Gender differences in salary is well documented throughout the healthcare workforce (Do & Lipner, 2020). In the world of oncology, women make up less than 17% of leadership roles occupied by women (Korolija et al., 2022). Women throughout the workforce have expressed that they feel gender plays a significant role in leadership positions, specifically in healthcare and men are more dominant in this field (Massaquoi et al., 2021). For several decades, the Pan American Health Organization has implemented the importance of health equity to help strengthen health systems (Etienne, 2022).

Male healthcare workers resulted in significantly higher compensations than female healthcare workers in private practice (Do & Lipner, 2020). Women in healthcare identify themselves being discriminated and handicapped by individualism, gender equality, fair pay, and differences preventing them from being treated as equals to their male colleagues (Korolija et al., 2022). Women are found throughout society, the workplace, and the household, but continue to be less valued than men (Etienne, 2022). Not just in healthcare systems, women also make up only 15% in the military health (Massaquoi et al., 2021).

Conclusion and Summary

Equality through pay is essential for men and women in all industries as it provides a voice and be able to be represented and protected throughout the workforce (Rescue, 2021). Women overtime have been shadowed overhead by men through leadership, advancement, management, pay differences, recognition, and much more (Knutson, 2022). Women have been a predominant gender throughout the workforce, but still are treated of lesser value to men through leadership and fair pay opportunities (Parker, 2020). Throughout healthcare, women have been found in more areas than men, but are found in fewer management positions (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2021). Women in healthcare, experience unfair pay compared to men with the same education, experience, and qualifications working in the same roles as men (Aragao, 2023). Human Resource leaders are responsible for the recruitment, onboarding, and executing of employing organizations with professionals (Coursera, 2023). One of the onboarding tasks that Human Resource leaders are responsible for, is creating and producing the pay that a working professional will receive (Graham, 2020). As human resource leaders analyze a person's education, experience, and qualifications, they are then able to produce and conclude with an amount of pay that a professional will receive (ADP, n.d.). With a constant gender pay gap, human resource leaders must understand their role in preventing and limiting gender pay gaps for men and women who work in the same positions with equal qualifications of each other (Ashton, 2016). Equality of pay for men and women in healthcare is essential for the success of a healthcare organization for many reasons

(WHO, 2022). Dismissing and not fixing gender pay equality can promote and result in the disruption and destruction of a unified healthcare organization (Treadwell, 2019). Gender pay equality is essential for Human Resource leaders to have a successful and unified healthcare organization (Batson et al., 2021). In healthcare, women and men should be treated at equal levels through pay, advancement, management, and all leadership roles (Berlin et al., 2022).

Chapter 3: Research Method

The problem addressed in this study was that women continue to face pay inequities while working in an industry that is well-regulated and monitored by federal pay regulations (Coleman et al., 2022). Women in healthcare get paid 24% less than men in the same positions and careers (Mahase, 2022). Differences in pay may relate specifically to human resource policies that provide tacit approval to pay differences based on gender or gender-linked occupations (Ainsworth & Pekarek, 2022). The phenomenon of interest was how women specifically in healthcare constantly face challenges and barriers that limit their ability to fully be treated fairly in their careers (ALobaid et al., 2020). In this study, I explored the perspectives of human resource managers in health care about their experiences and thoughts on pay gaps based on gender.

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps. The phenomenon chosen for this study was how women in healthcare experience gender pay gaps compared to men, through the perspectives of human resource healthcare leaders (Schieder & Gould, 2016). In healthcare, women and men sacrifice their time and attention to getting years of education and experience to have their dream careers (Marcus, 2016). Careers require people to put forth finances to accomplish the steps needed to obtain degrees and become part of an organization (Thompson, 2016). Female healthcare workers pursue years of education to compete with

men in the same roles (Yang, 2020). Women continue to experience gender inequity and other barriers that prevent them from achieving their careers in the healthcare industry (Larsen et al., 2019).

Chapter 3, the research method, presents a detailed approach of the study and what occurred throughout organizing, conducting, collecting, and analyzing the interviews and data for this study. The first section of this chapter presents the appropriateness of the selected method and design, specifically elaborating on the rationale for the research design. The second section presents the elaboration of why the design would accomplish the study goals and why the design is the optimum choice for this specific research. The third section will present the population for the study specifically detailing the population information, description matches, and the geographic location and identification of the study. The fourth section will present the description of the sample and how the participants were selected for the study. The fifth section will present the research questions for the study. The sixth section will present the ethics, informed consent, and confidentiality. The seventh section will present the dependability and trustworthiness. The eighth section will present the data collection method and tools for this study. The ninth section will present the instrumentation. The tenth section will present the field test. The eleventh section will present the data analysis. The final section will present the summary and conclusion of the chapter.

Method and Design Appropriateness

This qualitative case study explored the experiences and perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps. The phenomenon chosen for this study was how women in healthcare experience gender pay gaps compared to men, through the perspectives of human resource healthcare leaders (Schieder & Gould, 2016). Qualitative case studies enable exploration of a complex phenomenon and the identification of different factors and their interaction with each other (Debout, 2016). Case studies provide an approach to gather and obtain indepth, multifaceted information to identify a complex issue in a real-life situation (Crowe et al., 2011). A qualitative case study includes triangulated data (Noble & Heale, 2019). The three data sources for this study include interviews with 12 healthcare human resource leaders and five people who identify as female healthcare workers, as well as observation and analysis of human resources documents related to pay policies of at least three health care organizations.

Women make up 77.6% of healthcare workers (Statistics, 2022). Women continue to face barriers and challenges that prevent them from being paid fairly, barriers to leadership, and culture stereotypes that cause issues from respected women in the workplace on all levels (AAUW, 2016). Women primarily make up the healthcare workforce (Day & Christnacht, 2021) but continue to be underrepresented and treated unfairly in the workplace (Krivkovich et al., 2022). Researchers have found an epistemology in past research as many studies have determined that women continue to

face barriers with their goals, not just in healthcare but all industries (Sibeoni et al., 2020). Women receive the same education and experience as their male colleagues, and still are paid less (Gould et al., 2016).

In this study, I sought to understand HR management perspectives on gender-pay gap. HR leaders in healthcare are the group that hires and structures the pay of healthcare workers (Lytle, 2020). This study provided a better understanding of this process. The study included an interview between 12 HR professionals, with the second group of interviews being with five people who identify as female health care professionals, followed by the third source of data being an observation of HR hiring policies with pay scales.

Population

This study was delimited to the responses of 12 human resource leaders from different human resource departments throughout the healthcare system. Interviews were conducted with people that identified as HR professionals found in hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals, long-term care facilities, assisted living facilities, hospice, home care, specialized and non-specialized medical and dental clinics, labs, and additional healthcare systems. The second group of responses consisted of five women who are working in healthcare positions in hospitals, clinics, and elsewhere in the healthcare system throughout the United States, including physicians, nurses, technicians, aides, administration, and other careers. The third source of data was the observation of HR hiring policies with a specific focus on hiring and pay scales dependent on job

experience, education, salaries, and qualifications for roles that both men and women reside in for pay scales.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in qualitative studies is that of primary data collection instrument. Interviewing was the best approach because this specific research study included a case study to create a series of questions through interviews and collect data from human resource leaders' perspectives and female healthcare workers' lived experiences. Also, the research design included the ability to conduct interviews with the human resource leaders found throughout the healthcare system on their perspectives and experiences on the gender pay gap, along with conducting interviews with female healthcare workers and their lived experiences of gender pay gap. The research study also included an observation of HR hiring policies on pay scales between men and women found in the same positions based on their education, experience, and qualifications. For my planned research design, I recruited people who identified as human resource leaders found throughout the healthcare system in different facilities in the United States, along with female healthcare workers, and obtaining HR policies on pay scales in healthcare.

Sample

The 12 human resource leaders in healthcare, and the five women working in healthcare roles selected for this study are scattered throughout the United States in a variety of cities. This provides data collection through different parts of the country to provide a variety and not a biased study to only one area of the United States. The

interview guide was field tested by two healthcare executives with over 5 years of experience in human resource experience, and the coding table was peer-debriefed twice by two healthcare executives for additional perspectives. Two subject matter experts field tested the two interview guides. For the case study and triangulation of this study, the two different interview groups consisted of the 12 human resource leaders, and the 5 people that identify as females working in healthcare roles, resulting in the third source of data being the observation of specific HR policies and pay scales for men and women based on their education, experience, and qualifications to determine pay differences.

Research Questions

This study was guided by one main research question and three sub-questions:

- Main research question: What are the experiences and perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps?
- Sub question A: What are the perspectives of HR leaders in health care organizations towards possible gender pay differences?
- Sub question B: What are the perspectives of HR leaders in health care organizations toward possible facilitators that may assist with creating gender pay differences?
- Sub question C: What are the perspectives of people who identify as women towards pay differences in their field of healthcare?

Table 2

Research and Interview Questions

December 1 months and	Total and an area of a second and a second a
Research questions	Interview questions
Q1: What are your experiences in dealing with wages related to gender?	Q1A: Can you tell me about an experience when you negotiated someone's pay based on their qualifications that may have been similar or different to the job that you hired for? Q1B: Can you tell me about a time when someone during an interview felt underpaid and underappreciated that will limit their ability to provide care to patients? Q1C: With physician shortages, specialties, medical professions and workers, can you tell me what ultimately dictates the final say on pay gap for hospitals, clinics, and medical offices?
Q2: What are your perspectives as an HR leader in health care towards possible gender pay differences?	Q2A: Can you tell me about your perception for the future of gender pay if women were found in more leadership positions in healthcare?Q2B: Why do you feel that there is a constant gender pay gap between men and women found throughout the healthcare system in different roles?Q2C: Can you tell me your vision of the future in healthcare where men and women are treated equally through pay, leadership, and career aspirations?
Q3: What are your perspectives as an HR leader in health care towards possible facilitators that may assist with creating gender pay differences?	Q3A: How does senior management in your organization review active pay offers and are aware of if there is a gender pay gap set by human resource leaders? Q3B: Can you tell me what the medical industry would be like today if women and men were treated equally through gender pay, leadership, and all health care professions and career aspirations? Q3C: Can you tell me how human resource leaders execute the pay of someone based on their qualifications and education? Q3D: If women served in human resource positions or senior financial leadership, can you tell me how women in those positions ensure there is fair pay and avoid the gender pay gap along with if they experience any barriers from male counterparts preventing them from upholding fair gender pay?
Q4: What are the perspectives of people who identify as women towards pay difference in their field of healthcare?	 Q4A: Can you tell me about your experience(s) with equal pay in your profession? Q4B: Can you tell me when you might have been paid a different wage compared to a man in the same position as you? Q4C: Do you feel that HR leaders are aware of the ongoing gender pay gaps presently in healthcare? Q4D: Can you tell me about your struggles with knowledge of being underpaid compared to men in the same role as you? Q4E: Can you tell me about your obligations outside of your profession that can limit, prevent, or refrain you from working that men don't relate to?

Ethics, Informed Consent, or Confidentiality

It is important to conduct research in an ethical manner. Researchers must stay neutral and not become biased to the research or topic of choice. Although researchers have their own opinions, the purpose of the study is to pose a question and conduct research for the study. During the study, it is important to protect the dignity, rights and welfare of participants. Participants for this study may have had different opinions from each other or the researcher conducting the research. Therefore, it was essential that I remain neutral in gathering the data and presenting the findings in this study.

Informed consent is important for ethical research because participants in a study must understand that their opinions or beliefs can be used in a study to further seek guidance or understandings for a specific topic in research. Researchers must explain their role to participants and detail the interview guide so that participants feel protected and comfortable with participating in the study. If a participant does not receive informed consent, their identity and views on things could result in legal actions where a researcher could get fined or in trouble with the law. Participants could also feel that they do not want to participate based on the guidelines or use of data being transferred or analyzed. Therefore, researchers have to forgo using the participants information and rely on other participants. Informed consent protects both the participants and the researcher.

Participants were selected for the different groups of the study. The 12 human resource leader participants were selected from a variety of healthcare systems throughout the United States. Ultimately, participants were selected from my professional

network and connections. I sent emails to connect with human resource professionals, along with calling on the phone and connecting with the point of contact. Once communication was done, scheduling interviews consisted of emailing and calling on the phone to confirm a day and time. Interviews were held virtually on Zoom. Using a variety of healthcare facilities and different cities in the United States provided different data collection results. For the five people who identify as female healthcare workers in the healthcare systems in the United States, as for the human resource leaders, I chose participants from my professional network and connections. I recruited women in physician roles, nursing roles, administration, and additional as needed roles to conduct interviews. Interviews were held on Zoom. For the third source of data, I obtained documents on human resource hiring policies, specifically on pay scales between men and women based on education, experience, and qualifications for the same positions that men and women would work in. Research was conducted online to access random human resource hiring policies on pay scales found on the internet for different healthcare systems.

Communication with participants took place through emails, phone calls, texting, and Zoom. Using data collected and means of communication resulted in data being solicited through Zoom interviews, along with sending emails to participants with their information and responses to ensure accuracy and ethical manners. Once information was approved by the participant, and informed consent had been signed and filed, data were disbursed to the study for presentation and reflection on the results. After individuals

indicated interest in participating in the study, I emailed or called the participant to request their availability for an interview. I accommodated the needs of the participant to find times and dates that worked for their schedules to conduct virtual interviews. After the interviews, I coded and transcribed the interviews. I then shared the transcription with the interviewees through email, and the participants would either reply indicating they approved of the transcription, or send their changes back in another email, and I would be able to use these changes for the study.

Criteria for Quality in Research

There are four criteria that establish the quality for research: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Credibility is the confidence or truth behind research findings. Credibility deals with the research being believable and appropriate for the specific engagement of the study and the writer with the research. Credibility focuses on the extent of research findings and conclusions that deal with the belief or truthfulness of reality of the phenomenon (Nassaji, 2020). When research documents are processed, dependability belongs to the consistency and reliability of those research articles that express the truth and reliability of them. Dependability specifically targets the establishment of future directions regarding research through truth and reliability for researchers (Hanson et al., 2019). Dependability focuses on the truth and reliability of the articles and research.

The reliability of the dependability that involves truth in healthcare is important.

When researchers are gathering information, they need articles and journals to be true and

reliable in order to process into a study (Renjith et al., 2021). It is essential for articles and journals to explain the main concept as well as focus on the truth to allow articles and journals to be expressed through a study (Johnson et al., 2020).

There are also potential ethical issues in research that can affect the design decisions. Those who choose to be dishonest and end up falsifying their information or identity, which can also lead to plagiarism and forgery of data. Plagiarism is taking someone else's work and claiming it for their own. When research is dishonest, conclusions and results can be changed to align with what the researcher wants for a result. This causes errors, does not demonstrate credibility, and the reliability of transferable data is not trusted from researchers.

Data Collection

In this study I sought to understand the perspectives of healthcare human resource leaders on gender pay between men and women. The research design for this study was a holistic approach in the healthcare system found throughout the United States. The data collection tools include structured interviews in a virtual Zoom interview setting.

This study was delimited to the responses of 12 human resource leaders and five women working in healthcare positions in hospitals, clinics, and the healthcare system throughout the United States. The participants were interviewed individually through Zoom for the convenience for participants. The audio responses were recorded for transcription and coded.

To address the research questions in this qualitative study, the specific research design included a case study to create a series of questions through an interview, and collect data from a human resource leader and female healthcare workers' experiences. Also, the research design included the ability to conduct interviews with the human resource leaders found throughout the healthcare system on their perspectives and experiences on gender pay gap. Along with conducting interviews with female healthcare workers and their lived experiences of gender pay gap. The research study included an observation of HR hiring policies on pay scales between men and women found in the same positions based on their education, experience, and qualifications. For my planned research design, I recruited human resource leaders found throughout the healthcare system in different facilities in the United States, along with female healthcare workers, and obtaining HR document analysis policies on pay scales in healthcare.

Instrumentation

The data was recorded with a recorder and then reviewed later during the study to verify all data is noted and identified. Data points were gathered through open ended questions during a 30-minute structured interview. The participants were allotted time at the end of the interview to add or share information. The nature of this study was qualitative using questions created by an interview guide. Four case studies were identified during the literature review that measured case-studies on gender inequality found in healthcare most commonly in leadership and unfair compensation. These cases were compared to this study.

Data Analysis

The software that was used was NVivo. NVivo provides better software for qualitative data that is collected in interviews.

Descriptive coding is used for interviews and being able to explain basic understandings of what the interview was on. Through descriptive coding, a researcher is able to read through qualitative data to then code passages according to the topic. A researcher is able to summarize what the topic is about. The researcher will be able to share and transcribe the main points behind what an interviewee was sharing based on their answers. For interviews, the research will be able to highlight the main questions blue, the main experience of opinions as red, with green as an example for the experiences of interviewees. For this study, NVivo was used for coding.

Summary

Both men and women make up the gender pay gap, whereas women are commonly the population that is viewed as being underpaid or unfairly paid compared to men. Men have and continue to dominate the leadership and C-suite roles in healthcare, and it is time for a new change for more women to have the opportunity and ability to freely become an executive, leader, or C-suite member without having to have any problems to get there (Berlin et al., 2022). There has and continues to be inequality for men and women, and women deserve their time to shine and be at the top with men and be treated equally and fairly through all things. Equal pay for physicians both male and

female should be respected, especially when men and women have the same education and experience (Gould et al., 2016).

Women in leadership roles are more successful than men because they do not view the world as men versus women (Kirchheimer, 2007). Women are significantly underrepresented in hospital management positions, and because of this, gender disparity has changed over the past decades showing the struggles and barriers women face to achieve leadership roles (Sexton, 2014). As more women are put in places to thrive and learn, they will be more prepared for leadership positions, and men will not be biased or prejudice towards women, and women will be able to become the leaders of healthcare equal with men (AAUW, 2016).

Women found in healthcare roles such as physicians, management, or c-suite management positions, women have and continue to be treated unfairly (Mangurian et al., 2018). Unequal pay in leadership, being overlooked for advancement, is not being fair and is discriminating against women (Butkus et al., 2018). Women who have the same education and experience as their male co-workers are being surpassed by the stigma of men in leadership roles, and women beneath them (Gould et al., 2016). In healthcare, women and men should be treated at equal levels through pay, advancement, management, and all leadership roles (Berlin et al., 2022).

Therefore, this study will also promote fair and equal pay for women to be treated as equals to men, and be paid fairly and equal to men in the same roles based on the same or similar education, experience, and qualifications. This study will promote HR

professionals to end the gender pay gaps between men and women not just in healthcare, but throughout all industries across the world.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand the perspectives from healthcare human resource leaders and people who identify as female healthcare workers on gender pay gaps in the United States. The phenomenon chosen for this study is how women in healthcare experience gender pay gaps compared to men, through the perspectives of human resource healthcare leaders. Three sources of data were collected. The data collection tool was an interview guide that was used during virtual, private interviews with 12 people that identify as healthcare human resource leaders, and five people that identify as female healthcare workers. The third data source was the observation for human resource hiring policies, specifically on pay scales between men and women based on their education, experience, and qualifications for the same position that both genders would work in. In this chapter, the setting, demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, results, and summary of the study are provided.

This chapter begins with the setting of the study discussing how and what occurred during the interview process, followed by the demographics on who the participants consisted of and how they were appropriate for this study. The data collection is presented, followed by the data analysis detailing in depth the results for the interview questions and what the participants felt during the interview process. After each section is outlined and embedded in the discussion, a summary concludes the chapter and leads into Chapter 5.

Setting of Study

This study used virtual, remote-based interviews through Zoom for data collection of possible limitations where healthcare human resource leaders and female healthcare participants might find it difficult to participate in an interview with potential barriers of interviewing. At the time of data collection, female healthcare participants and healthcare human resource leaders found that their schedules and line of work were easier for their interview to be conducted in the evenings of work days and on the weekends to accommodate their busy schedules. One modification to the setting occurred. Originally the interviews were to be conducted in-person; however, due to time constraints, and personal schedules with barriers for meeting during an interview, participants data collection resulted in Zoom interviews to accommodate the needs of the participants. To obtain human resource hiring policies, and observe the document, random searches on Google were done, and found different companies, articles, and dissertations that provided understandings of the hiring process, recruitment, and policies on pay differences between gender, education, and experience.

Demographics

The participants in this study were asked demographic information to understand their background. This information pertained to (a) how many years have they worked in healthcare, (b) if their current organization is a for-profit or non-profit, (c) if they are working full-time or part-time, (d) what their role is in healthcare, and (e) if they feel there is a current gender pay gap with their line of work (See Table 3).

Table 3

Qualitative Demographics

Participants	Years worked	Profit	Employed	Role	Gender pay gap exists in current field
PT1	3	Profit	Fulltime	HR	Yes
PT2	15	Profit	Fulltime	Owner	No
PT3	4	Profit	Fulltime	HR	No
PT4	24	Profit	Fulltime	Owner	No
PT5	20	Profit	Fulltime	Owner	No
PT6	31	Profit	Fulltime	HR	No
PT7	23	Profit	Fulltime	Owner	No
PT8	23	Profit	Fulltime	HR	No
PT9	23	Profit	Fulltime	HR	No
PT10	14	Profit	Fulltime	Owner	No
PT11	18	Profit	Fulltime	HR	No
PT12	2	Profit	Part-time	HR	Yes
F-1	4	Profit	Fulltime	Female	Yes
F-2	17	Profit	Fulltime	Female	Yes
F-3	3	Profit	Fulltime	Female	Yes
F-4	6	Profit	Fulltime	Female	Yes
F-5	2	Profit	Fulltime	Female	Yes
Average	13.6	Profit	Fulltime	HR	No

Data Collection

On July 17, 2023, this study was approved by the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) as IRB# 07-17-23-1124429 with an expiration date of July 16, 2024. To obtain IRB approval, the plans originally proposed were modified slightly. These changes included the elimination of in-person interviews to conducting virtual interviews on Zoom. Edits were also required on the researcher-generated documents of the interview guide, consent email, and e-flyer to tailor to the 12 human resource leaders,

and the 5 people that identify as female healthcare workers. The Appendix contains the final version of the interview guide.

The IRB-approved e-flyer was emailed to healthcare human resource leaders and female healthcare workers throughout the United States found on public knowledge access websites. I also used personal contacts and professional network that consisted of healthcare roles to coordinate and interview people in healthcare human resource roles and other roles for the study. Twelve healthcare human resource leaders and five female healthcare workers were identified for interviews. With these 17 participants interviews, data saturation was found early on for the study, but the interviews were still completed to gain additional perspectives. During the recruiting stage of participants, over 35 emails were sent throughout the United States. Using my personal contacts, I recruited 13 individuals who were known to me and four through external recruitment and networking.

Each participant was contacted via email or phone. All 17 participants were contacted by email initially to send a participant invitation for the study. Once a participant indicated that they wanted to participate, I contacted them by phone to discuss availability for an interview to be scheduled and explained that a follow-up email would be sent that included the virtual Zoom interview link, informed consent, and the interview questions that pertained to their interview group (i.e., human resource leaders or female healthcare workers). After a reply of "I consent" was received from the participant, the interview took place virtually on Zoom.

Each participant's interview was recorded and transcribed. Audio files were saved onto a password-protected USB drive. After the interviews, I transcribed the audio recordings and sent the transcriptions to the participants via email for review, after which participants returned their confirmation of the transcription or added any changes to the interviews.

Following the interviews, the audio recordings were collected and transcribed in a second format to find common themes on NVivo software. The sound quality of the audio file was good, and the revised transcript was transferred to a Microsoft Word document. The transcribed interviews were sent to the participants for member-checking. The participants returned the member-checked transcripts data from each transcript and was transferred to the coding table. Of the 17 interviewees, only two added additional information to their transcription. The other 15 participants indicated that I had accurately identified and transcribed their answers and stances on the questions asked for the interviews.

Twelve interviews were conducted with human resource leaders, and five interviews with female healthcare workers throughout the United States via virtual zoom interviews. Participants were contacted via email, phone, and the researcher's personal professional network. Healthcare human resource leaders were used in this study, and business owners that handled their own HR tasks and responsibilities along with women in different healthcare roles across hospitals, nursing facilities, physicians, nurses, medical, and dental. In order to solicit interest in the study, I reached out to people on

LinkedIn, Google, and my professional network of relationships to obtain participants. Through networking, I was able to find participants willing to take part in the interviews, and I will be giving each participant a \$20 gift card to Amazon. With a diverse group of participants, I was able to receive an influx of participants that belonged in the HR group, along with business owners from their perspective of their own responsibilities with HR, as well as women in the healthcare workforce. Some participants were business owners, and mentioned they did not have a HR department, because they do their own HR jobs themselves that includes hiring, firing, and negotiation of pay. I used personal contacts of medical doctors from mentors, church, family-friends, professional network of work and competitors, and was able to have an influx of participation. Participants were found in a variety of healthcare industries that included skilled nursing, hospitals, emergency medicine, dentistry, family medicine, surgical, ENT, therapy, and many others. Once consent forms were signed, the interviews were held during July 2023, with interviews consisting of 30 minutes on average or longer. The interviews were audio recorded and transcribed. Those involved through participants were provided a copy of the interview transcription for review, and if needed, participants returned the transcription with any clarifications for the transcripts.

Data Analysis

The data analysis included the review of the Zoom recordings on each transcript that were analyzed and organized. During the review, initial comments were made to ensure accuracy and finalization of the interview. As transcribing was taking place, I

made additional comments to prioritize and categorize the data. The first step was to bracket the demographics of the participant, and emphasize the experiences of the participants to ensure accuracy for the study. Since, I was a researcher collecting data, it was important to remain neutral to the topic and refrain from being subjective throughout the pre and post process of the interviews. I also had to respect the responses of both participant groups, and although data saturation was found early, I had to follow through with the additional interviews to ensure a full account.

Each transcript was read three times after completion of interviewing, while transcribing with notes. The interviews were also uploaded in NVivo qualitative analysis software to ensure accuracy of the interviews and to help with finding themes and the use of coding. NVivo identified common words and themes. The coding process identified the following nodes that were used in the qualitative analysis software:

- women
- leadership style
- gender inequality
- pay disparities
- household stereotypes
- discrimination
- mentoring
- industry limitations

Through the use of Nvivo, along with the query features of word frequency, text search, and coding comparisons, the following themes were highlighted based on the interviews and expounded upon the lived experiences and perceptions of the participants: stereotypes of the household gender, perceptions of females in the workplace, and limited growth opportunities for women based on the industry. Detailed insight of participants' experiences resulted in emergent themes: (a) women falling into the household responsibilities and (b) limited leadership and mentoring of women in a profession.

Reflecting in the demographic table, the discrepancies that discussed if participants felt a gender pay difference in their fields, and the average participant felt there was not a gender-based pay difference. While there were other factors that could result in a pay difference, participants did not feel overall that gender had something to do with it. In addition, women and men in human resource roles did not feel that a specific gender had to be in charge in order for fairness and equality to occur. Some of the participants highlighted support for women with pursing their goals and passions; however, most participants felt that the world perceives the common norm of women having children and having to forfeit a career, while men cannot focus on careers with limited restraints on their careers. The majority of participants regardless of gender were supportive of a unified gender quality throughout the workforce, and many felt there are cultural and gender inequalities but that any person, regardless of gender, should be able to pursue their goals and passions. Participants also acknowledged that in order to fulfill one's passion, sacrifices have to occur on both gender ends for each person to be happy.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

As noted in the Appendix, the interview process was designed to elicit the perceptions of human resource leaders and those who identify as female on gender pay gaps. I specifically interviewed 12 human resource leaders and five female healthcare leaders to ensure that enough data were collected throughout the interview process. To ensure credibility, I used member checking to further build reliable credibility by requesting that each participant would review the transcription after the interview for accuracy and provide any clarifications if needed. To ensure I maintained integrity with communication with the participants, documents and any communications were kept confidential, including the initial recruitment email, signed consent forms, interview questions, and transcription notes. Originally, the intent had been to have face-to-face interviews; however, due to the logistics of availability and time for participants to meet, the interviews were changed to accommodate their needs and conduct a Zoom virtual interview upon the approval from the Walden University IRB.

Results

The interview questions allowed the participants to reflect on their experiences to gender pay, gender inequality, perceptions, and opinions on the study. Participants shared common and differences of opinions from the interview's questions through the human resource and female healthcare leader perspectives. In this section, the results are arranged by interview question along with a collection of what participants felt, experienced, or did not feel the same way as others.

Interview Question 1

The first interview question addressed to human resource leaders asked, "Can you tell me about an experience when you negotiated someone's pay based on their qualifications that may have been similar or different to the job that you hired for?" This interview question focused on an experience where human resource leaders interviewed someone for a position that they applied for, and the human resource leader walked away from the interview having negotiated a higher pay with the applicant based on the applicant's needs, qualifications, regardless of the specific pay originally being hired for.

Participants shared specific scenarios in which they interviewed applicants and either negotiated or did not negotiate pay based on the opinions of the applicant. For example, Participant 1 noted that she felt she is always negotiating pay in any job she would hire for regardless of what the set job title and pay was originally set at. She felt that human resource leaders have a general idea of the role of the job and what it pays, but most human resource leaders are always negotiating differences from what they are hiring for. Participant 3 discussed that, in the hiring process, there is a minimum threshold of education, and if an applicant meets that minimum threshold, the applicant is paid the same regardless of higher education or experience. He also noted that "many people seek higher education, thinking they are worth more than those that don't have higher education. But, when the position seeks a minimum threshold, someone with more education regardless of gender will get paid the same." Participant 4 said, "we negotiate pay based on the community rate for that position along with how many years they have

to reflect a potential hire wage." He went on to explain that the challenge of negotiation is along the lines of what competitors are paying, or what the applicants previous pay was from a smaller or larger institution. Participant 7 said,

I have hired hundreds of people over the years, and I have a bracket on negotiation of pay before the applicant even brings it up. Regardless of salary or hourly, I base it on experience. I look at credentials, training, and my perception on their testing and responses to interviewing to determine a fair wage for them.

Participant 10 emphasized that every applicant comes into an interview thinking of a number of what they are worth. He mentioned that most applicants leave interviews upset and not happy with their pay of what they think they are worth, until they understand the job, and what entails paying at the specific wage.

Question 1 for female healthcare workers was "Can you tell me about an experience when your pay was negotiated based on your qualifications that may have been similar or different to the job that you applied for?" This question focused on their personal experience when they negotiated their own pay in front of human resource leaders based on their own opinions of themselves and experiences.

Participant F-1, said that she was having small talk with other co-workers after work, and a male colleague mentioned his pay wage in a general context, upon which participant F-1 felt she had more experience and was being paid less resulting in an unfair gender pay based experience. She mentioned that she took this experience to human

resource leaders insisting on an equal if not higher pay based on experience, and human resource leaders never concluded with paying her a higher wage.

Participant F-3 mentioned, "I was offered with a specific pay and I was happy with it. Upon getting home to my husband who was in human resources for a different organization, he encouraged me that men tend to negotiate, and women don't know how to without coming from a business background. I agreed upon his accusations, and went back to request more money. I found that human resources had zero problems with paying me a higher wage, and I was frustrated that I was taken advantage of because I didn't have experience or knowledge of negotiation".

Participant F-4 discovered similar experiences to participant F-1, where participant F-4 found a co-worker that had the same education and experience as her, was getting paid \$2 more. She went to her manager and asked about a higher wage, and the manager said the review would be the following week. When the manager confirmed an increase in pay, participant F-4 requested the same as the co-worker, and the manager only increased the pay by \$0.10 because of the economy and pay cuts. The participant felt undervalued for their work and how comparable they were to others, but not able to negotiate their pay.

Interview Question 2

The second interview question asked to human resource leaders was: Can you tell me about a time when someone during an interview felt underpaid and underappreciated that would limit their ability to provide care to patients? This interview question

examined a personal experience from human resource leaders if they have ever interview someone, and the applicant felt they were underpaid or underappreciated and potentially vocalized an unintentional threat of being unable to do their job because of a lower pay they felt they should be given.

Participants 1-3, 5, 8-12 noted they think everyone in their company is paid fairly across the board. Participant 4 mentioned, "the only time I would think someone feels underpaid or undervalued, is based on where they were before this interview. For example, someone who is paid at a hospital might get paid more, than working at a private clinic, resulting in the feeling of being underpaid". Participant 6 said that many women and a person of different culture or ethnicity tries to pull this card to identify that they have minorities resulting in an unfair pay gap, rather than understanding human resource leaders don't discriminate based on culture or ethnicity. Participant 7 mentioned that many applicants look at Google or other pay scale websites to determine that they are worth some astronomical number, only to realize that there are multiple factors of what constitutes someone's pay, and that pay shouldn't result in someone not being able to do a job at hand.

Question 2, for female healthcare workers was: Can you tell me about a time when during an interview, you felt underpaid and underappreciated that would limit your ability to provide care to patients? This interview question had a reverse effect on the participants to see if they individually felt underappreciated or undervalued resulting in less care given to those, they provided care for.

Participants F1-F5, all expressed active gender pay gaps and thus feeling that their gender was misunderstood and this resulted in undervalued and lower paid females.

Participant F-3 went back to the previous question and how she felt "frustrated that I was taken advantage of because I didn't have experience or knowledge of negotiation". However, while all 5 female healthcare workers expressed lesser value, they all agreed that these actions wouldn't limit their ability to provide care to patients and they would still maintain their efforts and job at hand.

Interview Question 3

The third interview question for human resource leaders stated: With physician shortages, specialties, medical professions and workers, can you tell me what ultimately dictates the final say on pay gap for hospitals, clinics, and medical offices?

The interview question primarily seeks to diagnose from the perspective of human resource leaders on how and where pay is determined when hiring someone. Although the economy can be a factor, along with shortages, and burnout, the interview question seeks an understanding of how pay is determined. Based on the responses form the participants, most indicated the economy, market analysis, and how badly a person needs to fit a role.

However, Participant 3 noted, "pay is based on an algorithm for local salaries, wage surveys, and national companies to understand what someone should be paid". He goes onto explain that regardless of gas prices, housing, food, expenses that the world perceives with increases, doesn't affect what an algorithm puts out for how much a wage

is created for. While this algorithm can upset people, organizations trust surveys and national companies more on how much pay is sourced to each employee.

Participant 6 identified that multiple organizations find themselves unfairly paying others more than other applicants because of the shortages for specific positions. If an employer needs a specific position filled, they tend to overpay to capture the applicant and retain them from competition, resulting in inaccurate pay fairness across the board for hiring.

Participants 8-12 felt that what ultimately dictates the final say on pay is how badly an employer wants to hire someone. Ever since Covid, employee strike, virtual jobs, and other factors where employers experience fewer applicants, employers find themselves hiring in unusual manners then they would previously hire. Participants mentioned that employers in the past would have a set budget for hiring, and a timeline for hiring, but in recent situations, and fewer applicants, employers dictate the final say on pay in the present moment of an interview to retain an applicant into their needs and offer what they want to get more employees on board.

Question 3 was asked the same way to female healthcare workers and they had different opinions from their perspectives. Participants F-1 and F-2 felt that the world doesn't like women being treated as equals, and regardless of factors limiting budgets for pay, women are not valued as equals. Participant F-3 and F-4 felt organizations have a specific budget, and while employees are needed, experience, education, and licensure dictates how much someone can be paid to ensure equality.

Interview Question 4

The fourth interview question addressed to human resource leaders was the following: Can you tell me about your perception for the future of gender pay if women were found in more leadership positions in healthcare?

This interview question wanted to allow human resource leaders to ponder on their current perception of gender leaders in healthcare, and if they felt both women and men were equal in leadership roles, and if they weren't, what they would perceive if women were found in more leadership roles than men or vice versa depending on their depictions.

Participant 1 noted, "I think if women were found in more leadership positions, there would be more gender equality throughout the world to uphold equal gender roles". Participants 2-5 expressed that they feel women are already equal to men in their industries and other industries, emphasizing that gender is equal through all roles.

Participant 6 noted, "we as a world need to stop only focusing on women and minorities. We need to be a unified world regardless of gender, color, or minority. While more women in leadership roles seems ideal, the world forgets, that we need men just as much as we need women too. The world should be free of discrimination, household stereotypes, and create a unified world all together.

Participants 7-12 noted that women feel that they are only underrepresented throughout the world, but women don't understand that it isn't just their views of the world, but how the world perceives a household and gender. These participants go on to

explain how women and their primary role is to be a homemaker and bear children, while if they choose to seek a career, majority of women want: maternity leave, late work arrival, early work departure, time at home with children, all while being treated equally through pay, leadership, and fairness in different organizations. Participants 7-12, also noted that men don't have these requests or obligations as often as women, and find themselves in more leadership roles, and not having to sacrifice their dreams or goals.

Thus, if women wanted to serve in more leadership positions, participants 7-12 emphasized that, "you can't be a full-time parent, and have a full-time career. One partner or spouse has to sacrifice for the other, or both sacrifice in order to achieve what they want". The participants collectively felt that women leaders can happen and should, but women can't expect equal opportunities based on gender if requests or household stereotypes are different than men in those roles.

Question 4 was asked the same way to participants F1-F5. Participant F-1 mentioned that she hopes gender someday won't be a factor for whomever wants to be a leader and grow. Participant F-2 felt that more women are seeing themselves being underpaid and undertreated compared to men, and that soon there will be a shift where more women will start speaking up and forcing a transition of where women get what they want of being a leader and a parent at the same time.

Participant F3-F-5, said, "I want to be a full-time parent, but I also want to pursue my passions and have a full-time career. But I can't do that and have to sacrifice my wants to allow my spouse to achieve their goals, and I have to be satisfied with being a

parent over having both". The participants said that women in leadership would be great for younger generations, but women have to decide what is most important to them, knowing that the world perceives the household gender stereotypes.

Interview Question 5

The fifth interview question addressed to human resource leaders was: Why do you feel that there is a constant gender pay gap between men and women found throughout the healthcare system in different roles?

This interview question was created as a direct question with the assumption that there is a current constant gender pay gap based on research, and sought the opinion of participants of why they felt there is a constant gender pay gap instead of asking if they felt there was one.

Participant 1 out of all the human resource leaders felt there was an active constant gender pay gap and said, "women think more with emotion, and men think more with logic".

The remainder of human resource leaders of participants 2-12 said there was not an active gender pay gap. Each of the participants of 2-12 expressed that they don't feel there is a gender pay gap, are aware of anything in their fields, or that they have never noticed or thought otherwise of inequality in gender for pay.

Question 5 was asked for the female healthcare workers. All 5 female healthcare workers for participants F1-F5 felt there is an active constant gender pay gap.

Participant F-1 noted, "there is a constant gender pay gap because of how the world is perceived through the social norms and household stereotypes. Where men go to work, and women raise the children". She goes onto explain how this has always been the norm, but more often the world find women are just as capable as going to work and men staying home with children. But the world knows women think more with emotion and are less business orientated compared to men, resulting in a constant pay gap. Participants F2-F4 felt they aren't sure why there is a constant active pay gap between men and women. They emphasized that this isn't just found in healthcare, but when the study is focused on healthcare, women dominate in gender and still are paid less than men.

Participant F-5 noted that "men often times come from a legal, business, sales background where they have experience negotiating, and seeking what they want and thinking more on logic and business skills. Where women don't come from business and sales backgrounds, often find themselves drawing from personal belief, and emotions, resulting in men seeking hire pay, and women not, therefore instilling an active gender pay gap".

Interview Question 6

The sixth interview question addressed to human resource leaders was: Can you tell me your vision of the future in healthcare where men and women are treated equally through pay, leadership, and career aspirations?

This interview question geared towards the main topic of unity and equality between men and women found in healthcare specifically, but also the whole world. Participant 1 noted, "I think it comes down to education. I think if a male or female, or both have the same education and experience, that it will close the gap, and I think women are on the rise with closing the gap". Participant 2 noted, "I think with anything, career related or culturally, there should be equal opportunities for everybody. There shouldn't be a difference with gender and it is discouraging to think that there is a current difference. My vision would be that with pay and gender, it would be equal".

Participant 3 noted, "There would be greater respect and inclusivity in the workplace. There would be more diversity in teams and businesses that have women in leadership roles". Participant 4 noted, "I think people should be compensated based on their ability to produce and to contribute. Regardless of gender, affiliation or religious organization, sexual orientation, it would be ideal that equality should be based on production and contribution". Participant 4 goes onto share a story about his grandmother and her struggles with inequality in the workforce. "When my grandmother was working, in her job description, it said, "if you choose to leave and have children, you will get fired. My grandmother quit her job, and chose to have a family. Today, jobs allow women to have children and come back to work".

Participant 6 noted, "I would love to see more equality across the board. I would love to see a system in place where human resource leaders can't see who the candidate is, and just hires them based on education and qualifications. An applicant would submit their information, some type of testing, and they are hired regardless of color or gender.

Diversity is important, and the pay would be dictated on an automatic tier level for each person".

Participant 7 noted, "Women already make up a lot of roles in healthcare. To my experience, women are the primary gender in healthcare. My vision for the future would be that we just live and hire to work. We should be diligent and not worry about genders, and focus on equality". Participant 9 noted, "women are not found in leadership roles or equal areas because of getting pregnant and the household stereotypes. Would I like to see more men and women equal? Yes, I would. However, this will only occur in the larger organizations that can afford equality".

Participant 10 noted, "I think men and women are already equal through everything. Throughout my education and career, both genders have been equal in numbers and opportunities. Hospitals might have more men than women, but in healthcare, whoever is available first, should get the role".

Participant 12 noted, "I would hope this promotes more equal influence. Going back to the stereotype of home, there would be a balance of both genders can be full-time parents and have full-time careers". Question 6, was asked to female healthcare workers. Participant F-1 noted, "I think there shouldn't be any limitations with gender. I think it really should come down to our capabilities and our work ethic".

Participant F-2 noted, "this would promote equality and women would feel that they can sit at the same table as men, and both genders would be considered equal voices". Participant F-3 noted, "When I was going to school in a class of 100, only 10

were male. I never have perceived as women not being equal when I have seen women in more areas than men".

Participant F-4 noted, "I think it would be interesting to instead seeing genders treated as equals, bring the men down to the same salaries and wages as women, and see if they can be happy at the same level that women experience". This would give an incentive, where men can truly experience and understand the barriers that women face. Participant F-5 noted, "I don't want to focus only on gender stereotypes, but I would hope there would be a personal approach on both genders and their needs. Women and men can live their lives of seeking careers and being a parent if they desire, and not have the worry of less pay or barriers from preventing to achieve their goals".

Interview Question 7

The seventh interview question addressed to human resource leaders was: Do you feel that senior management reviews and are aware of active gender pay gaps set by human resource leaders?

The interview question targets human resource leaders directly and seeks to understand their opinions on their own bosses above them in senior management and if they are aware of potential active gender pay gaps.

Participant 1 felt that senior management is not aware of any pay gaps that go on and instead trusts human resource leaders to do their job and ensure equality. Participants 2-3 felt that senior management is aware, and mentioning that their own companies have quarter reviews on wages to ensure equality is focused on in pay. Participant 4 felt he

didn't have enough experience with larger organizations such as hospitals being aware, but in his current role as an owner who does hiring, he felt he might be bias to say he is aware as being senior management too.

Participants 5, 7-12, felt that senior management is aware and has to be in order to function for finances of a company.

Participant 6 felt that "senior management might not even be aware of active gender pay gaps because of the market. Senior management might be hiring and paying higher or lower than other companies based on their needs of filling a position, and not realizing there is a potential pay difference".

Question 7, was asked to female healthcare workers.

Participants F1-F2 feel that senior management would have to be aware of pay difference and not oblivious to it. Participant F-3 feels that senior management is not aware of pay differences individually and instead run statistics on pay between the organization to understand the going rate for current employees.

Participant F4-F5 felt that senior management is aware of pay differences, and choose not to pay everyone equal to prevent budget loss, and only pay the same when someone brings it up.

Interview Question 8

The eight-interview question address to human resource leaders was: Can you tell me what the medical industry would be like today if women and men were treated

equally through gender pay, leadership, and all health care professions and career aspirations?

This interview question is a continuum off of interview question 6. Having gone through a few other questions, this interview questions asks a more generalized question to understand if participants have changed their response or wanted to add more from interview question 6.

Participant 1 noted, "I think there would be more passion than it is financially". Participants 2-5 felt that women are already in senior management and are treated as equals. They emphasized that gender shouldn't be a factor for equal aspirations and opportunities.

Participant 6 noted, "We don't have enough people in the world to care for others when we only focus on gender. It is difficult to say what it would be like with the current shortages; however, equality is important and there shouldn't be any barriers".

Participants 7-12, feel that there aren't any major concerns of gender pay differences, resulting in active current gender equality.

Question 8, was asked to female healthcare workers.

Participants F1-F5 all agreed and had similar views of, women would have a seat at the table of the C-suites whenever they would like to, wouldn't have to stare at the glass ceiling, and would be able to work and function free of discrimination.

Interview Question 9

The ninth interview question addressed to human resource leaders was: Can you tell me how human resource leaders execute the pay of someone based on their qualifications and education?

This interview question seeks to understand how and where human resource leaders are able to execute the pay for someone they are interviewing and hiring for.

Seeing that human resource leaders have a specific budget in mind and what type of person they are hiring for, this interview question seeks to understand the process of the hiring and wage setting.

Participants 2-5 noted, "We look at experience, education, certificates, licensures, and what they as a person can bring to the table. Then through a market analysis of the community, we execute someone's pay".

Participant 6 noted, "Going back to a previous question, I have an idea of what job I am hiring for, and what I will pay them for. I have two interviews, where I interview the personality of them first, and then the second interview is a work interview to see if they are as good as what they say they are. This provides a true understanding on how to execute hiring and pay".

Participant 7-10 noted, "Market analysis, community algorithm, and creating tier brackets allows organizations to functionally and successfully grow an organization knowing your own limits on hiring and paying someone". Participant 11-12 noted, "applicants have set numbers of what they were paid before, or what they find on Google.

Senior management and human resource leaders know through their budget what they can pay someone. If a budget is set aside to hire a doctor of higher value, if that doctor negotiates more money, it limits the ability to negotiate pay for other positions.

Therefore, it is important to have wiggle room, but understand with more negotiation,

Question 9, was asked to female healthcare workers.

Participants F1-F5 mentioned, that they thought human resource leaders have a budget, but don't value women as equal to men, and purposefully pay men more.

Participants F4-F5 noted that human resource leaders have a specific budget they can't go over, and only hire specific roles with specific pay to prevent them from overpaying on someone's pay.

Interview Question 10

comes fewer hiring tactics".

The tenth interview question addressed to human resource leaders was: If women served in human resource positions or senior financial leadership, can you tell me how women in those positions ensure there is fair pay and avoid the gender pay gap along with if they experience any barriers from male counterparts preventing them from upholding fair gender pay?

This interview question was the final and last interview question for human resource leaders. It focuses on women specifically, and it is seeking the individualized opinion of human resource leaders if women served in more human resource or senior

financial roles, along with how women would instill fair pay between men and women and avoid any potential gender barriers that aren't upheld.

Participant 1 noted, "all genders need to start with a base pay based on education and experience. From there, a point system is created and with each year of experience or education, an extra tier is met to have an increase of pay. There wouldn't be any barriers on gender, age, and would only focus on education and experience". Participant 3 noted, "I believe there would be greater inclusivity and human resource leaders would become more female dominant. Companies would focus more on inclusivity and diversity to ensure more people wanted to work for them".

Participant 4 noted, "I think any job should be opened up to any gender, and gender shouldn't be a factor. If more women have access to equal roles, then it would be easier for all genders. The challenge is the stigma with gender roles at home and work. It can be difficult to do both at the same time, which causes gender roles to choose home or choose work. If a person chose to step back 10-15 years to stay home, this would affect the career aspirations, and eventually it is very hard to come back and pick up the pieces. Someone has to make the sacrifice for home versus career and understand the chances of not being able to be in the position you want".

Participant 6 noted, "Pay is what motivates everybody. Everybody is different, so there has to be a different package for others. There has to be fair and equal compensation, along with employee recognition and developing employee relations. I think there are already a lot of women in HR roles and I think gender shouldn't be a topic

as much anymore. I am tired of the constant women only topics. We need to focus on men too in our organizations because they are needed as well. I hope that both men and women are equal through all things and don't let gender, color, religion, or anything cause a bias factor at all".

Participant 8 noted, "This would require every company to take these issues seriously. Communication is huge. These issues need to be arose to the management, to be aware of these issues. Sincerity is important across all actions and focusing on improving the system and people with it through a diverse and fair culture". Participant 11 noted, "the demand of the work dictates on the person for the job. Gender shouldn't be a factor of who fits the role, but rather, whoever has the ability to get the job done should be able to serve and work in that role".

Participant 12 noted, "We will always live in a world where gender is different between men and women. Too many people focus on the household stereotypes of men and women with their roles. While it would be nice to have equality, men will never sacrifice their careers and stay home to allow women to have their careers and aspirations".

Question 10, was asked to female healthcare workers.

Participant F-1 noted, "I think this would limit the gender pay gap, and would promote more women into believing that they can do the same as what men can do". Participant F-2 noted, "I think that it would definitely be something that more and more equality would be there. I don't think that there would be a disparity in the other

direction. I don't think they would treat men differently. I think they would just kind of bring women more up to par with what men are getting. In terms of how they may prevent unfair gender pay".

Participant F-3 noted, "I would like to say that women would have more fire under their butts, but this isn't true, because in an ideal world, unity is great, but I don't see the world being equal in the sense of gender specifics".

Participant F-5 noted, "in a perfect world, equality is present with sacrifices being made to allow both genders to get what they desire and want. In a realistic world, women continue to be at home, selectively choose careers, while men don't have as many obligations as women".

The female healthcare workers of F1-F5, had 5 additional interview questions on their personal lived experiences of gender pay gaps and if any differences they have experienced.

Interview Question 11

The eleventh interview question addressed to female healthcare workers was: Can you tell me about your experience(s) with equal pay in your profession?

This interview question examines any potential experiences with equal pay occurrences in healthcare that the female participants experienced.

Participant F-1 reflected on a previous response from earlier, when she had a coworker that was male and had less experience and education than her, but was still getting paid higher than her. She approached her managers on this subject matter, only to find her pay was not adjusted.

Participant F-2 reflected on a time when she switched to the private healthcare sector, and brought loads of experience with her for a higher pay, only to find herself going through three negotiation meetings for equal and fair pay. Participant F-3 reflected on a past story when she was offered a specific pay, and felt happy. Upon which her husband who had human resource experience helped her seek more money, she was given the higher pay she requested, only to feel that she was taken advantage of by giving her a lower pay to begin with.

Participant F-4 reflected on an experience when she discovered a male co-worker was getting paid \$2 more and went to her managers and only received 10 cents higher for her pay even though she had more experience than her male co-worker. Participant F-5 reflected on a past story of when she pursued further education and requested a higher pay, but her manager said they were more focused on experience than education, which ultimately caused participant F-5 to leave the job.

Interview Question 12

The twelfth interview question addressed to female healthcare workers was: Can you tell me when you might have been paid a different wage compared to a man in the same position as you?

This interview question ties with the previous question to see if women are aware of any potential gender pay gaps with proof, or if they are generalizing pre-determined guess of unfair and unequal pay between gender.

Participant F-2 noted, "I can't think of a specific time when it was me versus a man, but I know I haven't been paid equally because of friends I have in the same roles as me in other companies of different genders". Participant F-3 noted, "I don't think I get paid differently than men in my role as a nurse, but, based on my interview experience of human resource leaders increasing my pay without hesitation, I would assume there is a pay difference with gender". Participant F-4 noted, "As I mentioned, my male co-worker got paid \$2 more than I did, even when I was more qualified, and I got a 10-cent increase after I brought it up".

Interview Question 13

The thirteenth interview question addressed to female healthcare workers was: Do you feel that HR leaders are aware of the ongoing gender pay gaps presently in healthcare?

This interview question was created for a direct yes or no question based on the past interview questions, on the opinions of participants.

The participants of female healthcare workers F1-F5 all felt that human resource leaders are not aware of the ongoing gender pay gaps in healthcare. Each of the participants felt that human resource leaders don't understand the challenges women face,

along with the pay differences that are set by human resource leaders regardless of the same education and same experience.

Interview Question 14

The fourteenth interview question addressed to female healthcare workers was:

Can you tell me about your struggles with knowledge of being underpaid compared to
men in the same role as you?

This interview question was to understand the potential active lived experience and opinion of female healthcare workers on their feelings of potential active knowledge of being underpaid compared to men in the same roles.

Participant F-1 felt that no matter what she did or does, no matter getting the same education and working harder, that she would never be considered equal to men. She emphasized that she has produced more work and success than other men, and still she isn't treated as an equal. Participant F-2 felt that she has demonstrated being able to out beat other men in her role and take on multiple roles while being a healthcare business leader, and she is still passed off from promotion and higher success.

Participant F-3 felt that she is recognized in a female dominant culture, but that females aren't found as strong in the physician culture, and thus is limiting women to believe in themselves and receive equal opportunities. Participant F-4 felt that she has voiced her concerns multiple times to be equal, but even with her example of getting a 10-cent increase, justifies that women aren't treated as equal and never will be.

Participant F-5 felt that it doesn't matter how much she puts forth the effort of showing

that she can juggle being a full-time parent and full-time career, that she is still not able to sit at the big table with male co-workers, and that she is limited to what she is able to obtain.

Interview Question 15

The fifteenth and final interview question addressed to female healthcare workers was: Can you tell me about your obligations outside of your profession that can limit, prevent, or refrain you from working that men don't relate to?

This interview question focuses on the lived experiences of women and what obligations they have, choose to have, or experience outside of their profession, that men generally don't have to obligate towards.

Participant F-1 noted, "I am not a mother, but I know that I already work hard to compete with men and trying to be equal. Through constant failures of being treated as equal, this limits my desire to become a mom, knowing that once I have children, I might not even be able to work anymore or ever be treated as close to equal as men". Participant F-2 noted, "I come from a business background, and I would be the first to say that, women who don't have a business or sales background, won't know how to successfully compete with men, let alone negotiate fair and equal pay. Women also want to have lots of children, but have to understand that your pay and career will disappear if you choose having a family over a career".

Participant F-3 noted, "I am married, a nurse, mother of 4 children, and my husband works in HR. I gave up my aspirations early on to become a mother. However,

now that my children are older, I was able to go back to school and become the career that I want to be. Anyone can do this, and not lose their goals. It would have been nice to not make all the sacrifices, when my husband didn't have to make any". Participant F-4 noted, "I might be single and not have child expenses, marriage expenses, but I also have my own expenses that constitutes pay. I shouldn't be paid less because I have less obligations or less expenses. I want to get married and have children, but the world puts so many restrictions on women with children and working at the same time".

Participant F-5 noted, "my husband is a lawyer, and I am proud of his efforts. I love being a mom, but I also love pursuing my career. I wouldn't ask my husband to quit his job, but I would hope that he would sacrifice some time more often to allow me to pursue my career full-time. Any women that is married, would love to pursue their goals, but in order to do this, their spouses have to sacrifice their time too, and have the equal balance between the two gender roles at home.

Themes and Emerging Themes

There were three consistent and reoccurring themes that were identified from Nvivo software and the coding analysis. As a result, from the participants from the interview context and their statements, the common themes were the following: stereotypes of the household gender, perceptions of females in the workplace, and limited growth opportunities for women based on the industry.

Rich and detailed insight of participant's experiences and analytical connections resulted into the following two emergent themes: women falling into the household responsibilities, and limited leadership and mentoring of women in a profession.

Theme 1: Stereotypes of the Household Gender

From the research interviews, a theme that occurred dealt with how participants felt the world constantly perceives household genders to have their own responsibilities and obligations. This resulted in common stereotypes of gender between household and the workplace. Participant F-5 noted, "in a perfect world, equality is present with sacrifices being made to allow both genders to get what they desire and want. In a realistic world, women continue to be at home, selectively choose careers, while men do not have as many obligations as women".

Participants 7-12 noted that women feel that they are only underrepresented throughout the world, but women don't understand that it isn't just their views of the world, but how the world perceives a household and gender.

Participant 9 asserted,

Women and their primary role is to be a homemaker and bear children, while if they choose to seek a career, majority of women want: maternity leave, late work arrival, early work departure, time at home with children, all while being treated equally through pay, leadership, and fairness in different organizations.

Participant 17 asserted,

You can't be a full-time parent, and have a full-time career. One partner or spouse has to sacrifice for the other, or both sacrifice in order to achieve what they want.

Women leaders can happen and should, but women can't expect equal opportunities based on gender if requests or household stereotypes are different than men in those roles.

Participant F-3 asserted,

I am married, a nurse, mother of 4 children, and my husband works in HR. I gave up my aspirations early on to become a mother. However, now that my children are older, I was able to go back to school and become the career that I want to be. Anyone can do this, and not lose their goals. It would have been nice to not make all the sacrifices, when my husband didn't have to make any.

Participant 12 noted, "We will always live in a world where gender is different between men and women. Too many people focus on the household stereotypes of men and women with their roles. While it would be nice to have equality, men will never sacrifice their careers and stay home to allow women to have their careers and aspirations".

Theme 2: Perceptions of Females in the Workplace

Another theme that was discovered resulted from the participant's lived experiences and the world's opinions on females working in any industry in the workplace. Participant 1 noted, "I think if women were found in more leadership positions, there would be more gender equality throughout the world to uphold equal

gender roles". Participants 2-5 expressed that they feel women are already equal to men in their industries and other industries, emphasizing that gender is equal through all roles. Participant 6 noted,

We as a world need to stop only focusing on women and minorities. We need to be a unified world regardless of gender, color, or minority. While more women in leadership roles seems ideal, the world forgets, that we need men just as much as we need women too. The world should be free of discrimination, household stereotypes, and create a unified world all together.

Participant F-1 noted,

I am not a mother, but I know that I already work hard to compete with men and trying to be equal. Through constant failures of being treated as equal, this limits my desire to become a mom, knowing that once I have children, I might not even be able to work anymore or ever be treated as close to equal as men.

Participant 4 asserted,

I think any job should be opened up to any gender, and gender shouldn't be a factor. If more women have access to equal roles, then it would be easier for all genders. The challenge is the stigma with gender roles at home and work. It can be difficult to do both at the same time, which causes gender roles to choose home or choose work. If a person chose to step back 10-15 years to stay home, this would affect the career aspirations, and eventually it is very hard to come back

and pick up the pieces. Someone has to make the sacrifice for home versus career and understand the chances of not being able to be in the position you want.

Participant 11 noted,

The demand of the work dictates on the person for the job. Gender shouldn't be a factor of who fits the role, but rather, whoever has the ability to get the job done should be able to serve and work in that role.

Participant F-1 noted, "I think there shouldn't be any limitations with gender. I think it really should come down to our capabilities and our work ethic". Participant F-2 noted, "promoting equality would help women feel that they can sit at the same table as men, and both genders would be considered equal voices." Participant F-3 asserted, "When I was going to school in a class of 100, only 10 were male. I never have perceived as women not being equal when I have seen women in more areas than men."

Theme 3: Limited Growth Opportunities for Women Based on the Industry

Participants highlighted limited growth opportunities that women face throughout a variety of industries with the barriers and challenges they face for equality. Participant F-1 felt that no matter what she does with getting the same education and working harder, that she would never be considered equal to men. She emphasized that she has produced more work and success than other men, and still she isn't treated as an equal. Participant F-2 felt that she has demonstrated being able to out-beat other men in her role and take on multiple roles while being a healthcare business leader, and she is still passed off from promotion and higher success.

Participant 6 noted, "We don't have enough people in the world to care for others when we only focus on gender. It is difficult to say what it would be like with the current shortages; however, equality is important and there shouldn't be any barriers".

Participant F-1 mentioned that she hopes gender someday won't be a factor for whomever wants to be a leader and grow. Participant F-2, felt that more women are seeing themselves being underpaid and undertreated compared to men, and that soon there will be a shift where more women will start speaking up and forcing a transition of where women get what they want of being a leader and a parent at the same time.

Participant F-5 asserted, "Women in leadership would be great for younger generations, but women have to decide what is most important to them, knowing that the world perceives the gender with limited opportunities based on growth."

Participant 1 mentioned,

Women think more with emotion, and men think more with logic thus resulting in certain doors being opened up to men or women. More often the world find women are just as capable as going to work and men staying home with children. But the world knows women think more with emotion and are less business orientated compared to men.

Participant F1-F5 collectively noted that men often times come from a legal, business, sales background where they have experience negotiating, and seeking what they want and thinking more on logic and business skills. Where women don't come from business and sales backgrounds, often find themselves drawing from personal

belief, and emotions, resulting in women constantly being passed up for promotion and opportunities in different industries.

F-2 noted,

I come from a business background, and I would be the first to say that, women who don't have a business or sales background, won't know how to successfully compete with men, let alone negotiate fair and equal pay. Women also want to have lots of children, but have to understand that your pay and career will disappear if you choose having a family over a career.

Emerging Theme 1: Women Falling into the Household Responsibilities

An emerging theme that occurred with the research interviews was participants feeling that women often times are judged based on household stereotypes where automatically women fall into household responsibilities and obligations. Participant 12 noted, "We will always live in a world where gender is different between men and women. Too many people focus on the household stereotypes of men and women with their roles. While it would be nice to have equality, men will never sacrifice their careers and stay home to allow women to have their careers and aspirations".

Participant F-5 noted, "my husband is a lawyer, and I am proud of his efforts. I love being a mom, but I also love pursuing my career. I wouldn't ask my husband to quit his job, but I would hope that he would sacrifice some time more often to allow me to pursue my career full-time. Any women that is married, would love to pursue their goals, but in order to do this, their spouses have to sacrifice their time too, and have the equal

balance between the two gender roles at home. Participant F-4 noted, "in a perfect world, equality is present with sacrifices being made to allow both genders to get what they desire and want. In a realistic world, women continue to be at home, selectively choose careers, while men do not have as many obligations as women".

Participant 1 noted, "all genders need to start with equality based on education and experience. There wouldn't be any barriers on gender, age, and would only focus on education and experience". Participant 3 noted, "I believe there would be greater inclusivity and human resource leaders would become more female dominant.

Companies would focus more on inclusivity and diversity to ensure more people wanted to work for them with women being able to promote a work balance of life versus home".

Participant 4 noted, "I think any job should be opened up to any gender, and gender shouldn't be a factor. If more women have access to equal roles, then it would be easier for all genders. The challenge is the stigma with gender roles at home and work. It can be difficult to do both at the same time, which causes gender roles to choose home or choose work.

Participant 10 noted, "I think men and women are already equal through everything. Throughout my education and career, both genders have been equal in numbers and opportunities. Hospitals might have more men than women, but in healthcare, whoever is available first, should get the role". Participant 12 noted, "I would hope this promotes more equal influence. Going back to the stereotype of home, there would be a balance of both genders can be full-time parents and have full-time careers".

Participant 9 noted, "women are not found in leadership roles or equal areas because of getting pregnant and the household stereotypes.

Emerging Theme 2: Limited Leadership and Mentoring of Women in a Profession

Another emerging theme found with the interview participants discovered that women as a whole are often times found in little leadership roles resulting in a variety of industries where women have limited leadership paths, and the mentorship of other executive suite women in those professions. Participant F-3 noted, "I would like to say that women would have more fire under their butts to become mentors and pursue leadership, but this isn't true, because in an ideal world, unity is great, but I don't see the world being equal in the sense of gender specifics".

Participant F-1 felt that no matter what she does regardless of getting the same education and working harder, that she would never be considered equal to men. She emphasized that she has produced more work and success than other men, and still she isn't treated as an equal. Participant F-3 felt that she is recognized in a female dominant culture, but that females aren't found as strong in the physician culture, and thus is limiting women to believe in themselves and receive equal opportunities.

Participant F-4 felt that she has voiced her concerns multiple times to be equal, but even with seeking to request an equal pay to men in the same role, justifies that women aren't treated as equal and never will be. Participant F-5 felt that it doesn't matter how much she puts forth the effort of showing that she can juggle being a full-time parent

and full-time career, that she is still not able to sit at the big table with male co-workers, and that she is limited to what she is able to obtain.

Participant 6 noted, "There has to be fair and equal compensation, along with employee recognition and developing employee relations. I think there are already a lot of women in HR roles and I think gender should not be a topic as much anymore. I am tired of the constant women only topics. We need to focus on men too in our organizations because they are needed as well. I hope that both men and women are equal through all things and don't let gender, color, religion, or anything cause a bias factor at all". Participant F-5 noted, "women in leadership would be great for younger generations, but women have to decide what is most important to them, knowing that the world perceives the gender with limited opportunities based on growth".

Participant 8 noted, "This would require every company to take these issues seriously. Communication is huge. These issues need to be arose to the management, to be aware of these issues. Sincerity is important across all actions and focusing on improving the system and people with it through a diverse and fair culture". Participant 11 noted, "the demand of the work dictates on the person for the job. Gender shouldn't be a factor of who fits the role, but rather, whoever has the ability to get the job done should be able to serve and work in that role".

Participant 7 noted, "Women already make up a lot of roles in healthcare. To my experience, women are the primary gender in healthcare. My vision for the future would be that we just live and hire to work. We should be diligent and not worry about genders,

and focus on equality". Would I like to see more men and women equal? Yes, I would. However, this will only occur in the larger organizations that can afford equality".

Observation of Human Resource Policies

For the third source of data used in the study, an observation occurred on human resource policies. To obtain Human Resource hiring policies, and observe the documents, random searches on Google were done, and found different companies, articles, and dissertations that provided understandings of the hiring process, recruitment, and policies on pay differences between gender, education, and experience.

When recruiters are seeking to hire, they must have a plan in place of who they want to hire based on the job responsibilities and the qualifications for that role (Schooley, 2023). Each job in the world depicts a certain qualification through education, years of experience, certificates, and pay scales (Pelta, 2023). Due to increased numbers of unemployment throughout the world, often times applicants that do not meet the qualifications for a job often find themselves applying for more jobs, which can result in an influx of unqualified applicants (Long et al., 2021). It is crucial for human resource leaders to have a plan specifically on what type of person they seek to hire, to eliminate the potential possibility of unqualified applicants for a position of hire (Lumen, 2023). Some organizations have recruiters that specifically recruit certain positions such as: executives, temporary or interim, seasonal, corporate, third-party, consulting, and much more (Ferry, 2023). Often times, a recruiter does not determine the pay for an individual,

and rather they are responsible for only finding a suitable qualified applicant for the role (Pavlou, 2023).

The EEOC (equal employment opportunity commission) constantly promotes fair and equal recruiting and hiring practices for all genders, race, religion, education, and beliefs (EEOC, 2023). Employee selection is critical to an organization's ability to realize strategic objectives and manage future challenges in the workforce (Bolander & Sandberg, 2013). To ensure fair and equal hiring tactics, organizations create an equal workforce promoting culture, age, sexual orientation, language, background, disability, and experience to speak up and have a voice to differences (Barney & Rosencrance, 2023). A variety of federal laws prohibits employers to discriminate the act of hiring based on: age, citizenship, race or color, disability, genetic information, family or medical leave use, military service, national origin, pregnancy, religion, sex or gender identity (EEOC, 2023). Some jobs in the workforce might be gender based only because of the stigma or stereotypes where that dominant gender has remained (Hedreen, 2023). Women are often found in administrative, nursing, education, babysitting, cosmetology, modeling, and additional industries (Hennekam, 2016). Men are often found in business, sales, leadership, physicians and doctors, police, fire, construction, sports, and more (BLS, 2023). However, genders can often get stuck in these bias stereotypes for work positions (Carnegie, 2023). But employers are federally held to the highest regard to refrain from diminishing or refusing to hire out of the norm genders for a role (EEOC, 2023). No gender is prevented from working or becoming any career that a person

decides to pursue (House, 2021). Some work positions might have different pay differences based on education and experience, however, gender does not and will not provide a determining factor for inequality (Gould et al., 2016).

Summary

The fourth chapter summarized the results of this qualitative study based on the virtual Zoom individual interviews between twelve human resource leaders and five female healthcare workers. The interview approach involved open-ended questions that provided participants to share their personal experiences through the human resource perspectives and female healthcare perspectives. The results from the study shared commonalities regarding gender inequalities, discrimination, leadership, household stereotypes, and pay differences in the healthcare sector. Chapter 5 will analyze this study's results, and be able to draw conclusions based on the interviews that were conducted for this study, while suggesting opportunities for further and additional research to occur.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of the qualitative study was to understand the perspectives from healthcare human resource leaders and people who identify as female healthcare workers on gender pay gaps in the United States. A qualitative research design was used in order to explore participants' personal experiences to address the phenomenon. Three consistent and reoccurring themes were identified from the NVivo and coding analysis. Detailed insights occurred from the interview participants and their experiences that connected with the themes that resulted in two emergent themes that highlighted the opportunities from the interviews. The results from the individual interviews with the 17 participants yielded the following themes and emerging themes:

- 1. Stereotypes of the household gender
- 2. Perceptions of females in the workplace
- 3. Limited growth opportunities for women based on industry
- 4. Women falling into the household responsibilities
- 5. Limited leadership and mentoring of women in a profession

Interpretation of the Findings

This section of the study is centered on the findings and themes resulting from the participants' interviews. The research was focused on the perceptions and experiences of healthcare human resource leaders and people who identify as female healthcare workers on gender pay. Three themes that were highlighted were (a) stereotypes of the household gender (b) perceptions of females in the workplace (c) limited growth opportunities for

women based on industry. Women are continually being treated unfairly through leadership and gender pay issues (Schieder & Gould, 2016). Men in management positions are not paving the way for future women of healthcare management by allowing them to be in management roles to grow and learn towards high leadership positions (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2021). Women in Generations Y, Z, and Alpha are entering the healthcare force, specifically medical school and graduate programs to compete with male colleagues in fair gender equity in leadership roles and fair pay (Plietz, 2012). Women are pursuing further education to be able to compete against men who have dominantly directed all industries (Batson et al., 2021). In the healthcare industry, men have been and continue to be at the top and housing for all high leadership positions while being paid more than women with the same qualifications (Mahase, 2022). Women are taking their future into their own hands and pursuing extra education and gaining additional experience to show that they are capable of being strong and independent leaders in the healthcare industry (Berlin et al., 2022). Given generational perspectives that still exist between the workplace and gender household responsibilities, there was a confirmation that although women today are able to work the same jobs as men, many still believe that women have more obligations or barriers at home, which prevents them from working without barriers compared to men (Bioneers, n.d.). However, with younger generations currently entering the workforce, specifically those raised by working mothers, more women are being found in leadership roles compared to men, and women are found in more acceptance roles and the gender icon is disappearing for unity (Braddy et al., 2019).

Feminist theory allows people to better understand and work together when there are active unequal relationships between men and women (Crossman, 2020). Feminist theory helps people to understand common challenges that women experience as they gain social equality compared to men (Council of Europe, 2022). While men are found in more leadership and management positions, feminist theory provides the acknowledgement, how women aren't found in management roles (Soklaridis & Lopez, 2014). The feminist movement has resulted in major impacts of women getting access to education, healthcare, voting rights, equal pay, and women's rights or women's suffrage (Congress, 2023). Feminist theory emphasizes the importance of women being treated as unequal to men in a variety of categories (Lee et al., 2020). Equality is essential for both genders to feel respected and as equals to become unified and work towards the future (Director et al., 2021).

Feminist theory in healthcare has been commonly referred to women not found in management (Shai et al., 2021). Healthcare leadership is a male-dominated field (Healthcare, 2021). Men have often had fewer obstacles and are groomed for leadership roles (Barrett & Moores, 2006). Women have often struggled to achieve management roles, let alone getting access to moving up the corporate ladder while dealing with a glass ceiling (Eagly & Carli, 2018). The limited number of women in healthcare leadership results in women being undermined by men and treated as unequal (Perez-

Sanchez et al., 2021). Women in healthcare fight to have a seat at the table for management and leadership (Palmer, 2022). The feminist theory can allow people in healthcare to understand how women are not in leadership, which can result in other issues that women experience such as pay gaps and leadership advancement (Gould et al., 2016). The feminist theory is essential to eliminate sexism in healthcare to provide an equal and unified healthcare system into the future (Rogers, 2006). In 2007, women comprised 28.3% of the doctors in healthcare and 12 years later, women are now at 36.3% (Boyle, 2021). In 12 years, women have only risen by 8% roughly. Men still continue to dominate as the lead gender in healthcare doctors. Not only is 28.3% or 36.3% very small compared to men, each specialty has fewer women compared to men.

While the situational leadership theory allows a leader to adapt to any situation or diverse group of people, leaders must be able to understand how to lead groups of females that result in a feminist theory approach (University, 2020). Throughout different industries, gender is an issue where gender inequalities occur in leadership roles, advancement, minorities, pay, and population (Gould et al., 2016). The feminist theory focuses specifically on the inequalities of women found in different roles of an industry based on individual minorities of race, sex, ability, and class (Veenstra, 2011). Women might be found in other industries compared to men, but the lack of women results in those that identify this as an inequality of gender (Ilo, 2011). More women pursue opportunities to allow other women to promote equality through gender, and thus providing justice and women found everywhere for equality in the workplace (Dietz,

2023). It is essential for situational leadership and feminist theory to work hand-in-hand to further promote a unified workforce of equality in the workplace for all genders, race, ethnicity, and backgrounds (Hershey et al., 1979). Through these two theories, women are recognized as equal to men to provide equality through all things in the workforce and society (Cherry, 2023).

Other studies have highlighted women specifically found in seniority positions who prioritized their commitments based on a family and work-based life. Women sometimes forgo career progression given the number of hours required or expected in a management role (Ely et., 2015). Decisions made by men and women regarding personal and professional obligations are often significantly different (Belhadj & Touré, 2008). Multiple participant responses emphasized this during the interviews. As an example, Participant 13 noted, "I am not a mother, but I know that I already work hard to compete with men and trying to be equal." Participant 14 noted, "I come from a business background, and I would be the first to say that, women who don't have a business or sales background, won't know how to successfully compete with men, let alone negotiate fair and equal pay." Participant 15 noted,

I am married, a nurse, mother of four children, and my husband works in HR. I gave up my aspirations early on to become a mother. However, now that my children are older, I was able to go back to school and become the career that I want to be. Anyone can do this, and not lose their goals. It would have been nice to not make all the sacrifices, when my husband didn't have to make any.

Participant 16 noted,

I might be single and not have child expenses, marriage expenses, but I also have my own expenses that constitutes pay. I shouldn't be paid less because I have less obligations or less expenses. I want to get married and have children, but the world puts so many restrictions on women with children and working at the same time.

Participant 17 noted,

My husband is a lawyer, and I am proud of his efforts. I love being a mom, but I also love pursuing my career. I wouldn't ask my husband to quit his job, but I would hope that he would sacrifice some time more often to allow me to pursue my career full-time. Any women that is married, would love to pursue their goals, but in order to do this, their spouses have to sacrifice their time too, and have the equal balance between the two gender roles at home.

An interview question focused on, if more women served in human resource positions or senior financial leadership, how women in those positions would ensure there is fair pay and avoid the gender pay issues. Women who are not found in senior organizational levels will continue to have limited opportunities to enter the C-suite level (Al-Sawai, 2013). Participant 2 noted, "I would hope that anyone in those positions would fight to eliminate those types of gaps whether it's male or female." Participant 3 noted, "I believe there would be greater inclusivity and human resource leaders would become more female dominant." Participant 4 noted, "I think any job should be opened

up to any gender, and gender shouldn't be a factor. If more women have access to equal roles, then it would be easier for all genders." Participant 6 noted, "Pay is what motivates everybody." Participant 7 noted, "There shouldn't be any gender disparities." Participant 10 noted, "there is already equality in the world we live in, but, if people feel there isn't, then those who are preventing equal opportunities should step aside and allow equality to be found." Participant 12 noted,

We will always live in a world where gender is different between men and women. Too many people focus on the household stereotypes of men and women with their roles. While it would be nice to have equality, men will never sacrifice their careers and stay home to allow women to have their careers and aspirations.

Participant 13 noted, "I think this would limit the gender pay gap, and would promote more women into believing that they can do the same as what men can do". Participant 15 noted, "I would like to say that women would have more fire under their butts, but this isn't true, because in an ideal world, unity is great, but I don't see the world being equal in the sense of gender specifics." Participant 16 noted, "As long as women continue to push for fair and equal pay along with equal opportunity, women will be treated as equal to men."

Participant 1 noted, "I think there would be more passion than it is financially". Participants 2-5 felt that women are already in senior management and are treated as equals. They emphasized that gender shouldn't be a factor for equal aspirations and opportunities. Participant 6 noted,

We don't have enough people in the world to care for others when we only focus on gender. It is difficult to say what it would be like with the current shortages; however, equality is important and there shouldn't be any barriers.

Participants 7-12, feel that there aren't any major concerns of gender pay differences, resulting in active current gender equality. Participants 13-17 all agreed and had similar views that women would have a seat at the table of the C-suites whenever they would like to, would not have to stare at the glass ceiling, and would be able to work and function free of discrimination.

As noted in Chapter 2, throughout all walks of life, gender bias is found in education, politics, government, and all other jobs (Ahmed et al., 2022). Women serving in management roles within academics and practitioners is essential for the advancement and equal opportunities for women (Bass, 2019). Women are found throughout society, the workplace, and the household, but continue to be less valued than men (Etienne, 2022). Throughout the health workforce, gender plays a vital role (Newman, 2014). Women and their devotion to work and being underpaid has reflected their gender resulting in not fitting in the economic mold and being underrepresented (Meleis & Lindgren, 2002). Women found in leadership positions in government organizations implement different policies than men and are found to be more supportive by other women (Downs et al., 2014). The concern for gender inequality is vital for the success of different industries between men and women (Block et al., 2019).

Participant 1 noted,

I think it comes down to education. I think if a male or female, or both have the same education and experience, that it will close the gap, and I think women are on the rise with closing the gap.

Participant 2 noted, "I think with anything, career related or culturally, there should be equal opportunities for everybody. There shouldn't be a difference with gender and it is discouraging to think that there is a current difference." Participant 3 noted, "There would be greater respect and inclusivity in the workplace. There would be more diversity in teams and businesses that have women in leadership roles." Participant 4 noted, "Regardless of gender, affiliation or religious organization, sexual orientation, it would be ideal that equality should be based on production and contribution." Participant 5 noted, "I wouldn't say I have a vision, because it is already occurring. The best person for the job, gets the job." Participant 6 noted, "I would love to see more equality across the board." Participant 7 noted, "Women already make up a lot of roles in healthcare. To my experience, women are the primary gender in healthcare." Participant 8 noted, "Gender equality would prevent any discrimination. People feel discriminated and unequal to pay, thus, this would provide equal opportunities to ensure every person's needs are met." Participant 10 noted, "I think men and women are already equal through everything." Participant 11 noted, "I wouldn't see any changes, because I don't feel there are any differences." Participant 12 noted, "I would hope this promotes more equal influence. Going back to the stereotype of home, and the views of this world, there would be a balance of both genders that can be full-time parents and have full-time careers."

Participant 13 noted, "I think there shouldn't be any limitations with gender."

Participant 14 noted, "this would promote equality and women would feel that they can sit at the same table as men, and both genders would be considered equal voices."

Participant 15 noted, "When I was going to school in a class of 100, only 10 were male. I never have perceived as women not being equal when I have seen women in more areas than men." Participant 17 noted, "Women and men can live their lives of seeking careers and being a parent if they desire, and not have the worry of less pay or barriers from preventing to achieve their goals."

Limitations

Although the study included 17 participants that included 12 human resource leaders and five female healthcare workers, there were potential predisposing and actual limitations and barriers for this study to take place. The sample was diverse in terms of location and areas of healthcare. The original proposal for the study was to execute inperson face-to-face interviews. However, the potential barrier of not being able to pinpoint a day and time where interviews with human resource leaders are available to discuss the research questions resulted in the decision to conduct the study through virtual Zoom interviews, upon approval of the Walden University IRB.

Another possible limitation was that men in financial positions or human resource positions could have inherit bias or prejudiced feelings on this topic and not want to participate. However, there was a diversity of men to women that occurred during the interviews, and many men were open to the discussions, of which some praised that

women should be found in more roles as men, and others did not even realize how women are not found in as many roles compared to men. Another possible limitation was meeting data saturation with having a larger sample size of 12 human resource leaders and five female healthcare workers. Data saturation was met early on and those additional descriptions and experiences were added into the study.

Another barrier was finding the time and commitment of female healthcare workers along with human resource leaders to coordinate the time and day for interviews. While the researcher prepared for random schedules to adhere to participant interview times, the researcher found that all participants preferred to have their interview conducted in the evenings after work, or on the weekends. Participant 7 said, "my schedule is always changing and I never know when I am available, evening interviews and conversations work best for my schedule". Another limitation was being able to hone down and interview people that have the title as a human resource leader. Human Resource leaders are responsible for the recruitment, onboarding, and executing of employing organizations with professionals (Coursera, 2023). One of the onboarding tasks that Human Resource leaders are responsible for, is creating and producing the pay that a working professional will receive (Graham, 2020).

Leadership found in clinics, hospitals, dental offices, and more often times have providers and owners that make up the Human Resource roles. This results in human resource positions not having specific people in these roles, and instead having the owners and medical providers oversee and manage these responsibilities, thus causing a

limitation of not interviewing direct human resource titles. Throughout the study, interviews were being conducted and participants made up of human resource leaders in healthcare actively, and with past experience of healthcare HR, and also there were participants that made up the roles of HR in their provider or owner position. Participant 9 reported that, "I operate my own business and handle all HR obligations while running the business, and my days are always filled with unknown obstacles". Participants 2, 4-7, 9-10, all mentioned in their interviews that as providers or owners, they take on the roles as individual HR in their organizations as they are the primary contact for hiring, firing, onboarding, interviewing and executing the pay of new employees. This resulted in not having to interview 12 direct titles human resource leaders, because the title of a human resource leader resulted in its role being governed and executed by owners and operators of different organizations.

Recommendations for Further Action

This study reflected the experiences, and perceptions that occurred through interviews and related descriptions of 17 participants. The descriptions and results of this study resulted and reflected a specific point in time. However, it would be ideal to follow-up with these participants or similar participants in future milestone markers of 10, 20, and 30 years down the road, to access whether there have been any major occurrences or changes in the world we live in. As times progresses, these participants might take the focus of this study and execute equal pay and equality of gender in their own organizations going forward, and be more aware and supportive of potential

increased changes going into the future for equality in the workplace. Women in generations Y, Z and Alpha are entering the healthcare force, specifically medical school and graduate programs to compete with male colleagues in fair gender equity in leadership roles and fair pay (Plietz, 2012). Participants emphasized that women would like to pursue careers and be treated as equals; but through the stereotypes at home, perceptions of females in the workplace, and the careless views of a unified world, women have resulted in having to focus on other obligations at home and aren't given the opportunity to pursue their careers and be parents. All while women find themselves not entering the home life with fear of losing their ability to strive in the workforce and be respected. How might the future of gender equality and pay equality look in 10-30 years with a follow-up study with the same participants or future generations? It would be beneficial to interview women currently in the workforce, entering the workforce, entering school, and retiring from the workforce for the next 10-30 years to examine if any changes occurred.

With the consideration of a longitudinal study and information shared by the participants on how their careers evolved, another option would be to conduct research on undergraduate students and graduate students in their classes to obtain the current gender polls of numbers that are pursuing careers. In college, both genders are found, however, with a constant gender bias and stereotypes, women aren't found as often in healthcare provider roles, or other industries that require years of dedication and sacrifice that men have been used to doing, and limiting women to be at home and work. Plus, conducting

research with women and men in their college years and what their aspirations are for a career standpoint and if they currently at that time view any barriers or obligations they have to deal with. For example, interviewing some women in college might say they only want to be a mother, whereas, other women might say they want to be a doctor and a mother, and might feel they are unable to do both. A potential study of this focus would examine early on barriers that younger generations are aware of or fear that prevent them from pursuing their aspirations.

The research participants for this study shared personal experiences and their own perceptions of gender pay gaps, gender equality, pay disparities, and how women are viewed in this world found in the healthcare workforce. There was 12 human resource leaders, and 5 female healthcare workers. There was a general consensus of men and women in a variety of industries that made up HR roles, and a variety of women in different healthcare areas. There was not as many women found in provider or operator roles compared to just HR roles, and this provides future research to focus on women leadership and how they operate. When men were asked their perceptions, most men agreed that women should have equality, but most men also did not see a problem with unfair gender equalities or pay differences, or were aware of active gender differences, resulting in men not caring and being aware of these issues. This resulted in not having to interview male healthcare workers, since men were not aware or hyper-focused compared to women in the healthcare industry. But further researcher could occur with possibilities to further engage research on women in leadership and equality. Research could result in

how men and women are executing equality in the workplace through gender, obligations, stereotypes, and pay disparities.

Implications for Social Change

The world is constantly evolving. Women need to be able to prepare the future path of women in leadership positions in all industries but specifically for this study in healthcare (Mahase, 2022). Men continue to dominate the leadership and C-suite roles in healthcare (Berlin et al., 2022). There has and continues to be inequality for men and women, and women deserve their time to shine and be at the top with men and be treated equally and fairly through all things. Equal pay for physicians both male and female should be respected, especially when men and women have the same education and experience (Gould et al., 2016). Women should not be pre-judged about being biased or prejudice towards men and should be given the opportunity, just like men to be able to show leadership skills and manage in leadership roles (Butkus et al., 2018).

Women bring the empathetic ability to be more emotionally attached or thought out for choices and decisions (Yang, 2020). Men mainly act on their knowledge, whereas women act on their feelings and look at everything that is in place (Kachel et al., 2016). Through research, women in the healthcare industry are equal to men through non-leadership positions based on pay wages (Layne, 2017). Women found in healthcare roles such as physicians, management, or C-suite management positions, women have and continue to be treated unfairly (Mangurian et al., 2018). Unequal pay in leadership to being overlooked for advancement is not being fair and is discriminating against women

(Butkus et al., 2018). Women who have the same education and experience as their male co-workers are being surpassed by the stigma of men in leadership roles, and women beneath them. While this has occurred in the past, more women are starting to progress into more physician opportunities, however, in management and leadership roles also found in the C-suite, women are rarely found. In healthcare, women and men should be treated at equal levels through pay, advancement, management, and all leadership roles (Berlin et al., 2022).

Women make up 77.6% of healthcare workers (Statistics, 2022). Women continue to face barriers and challenges that prevent them from being paid fairly, barriers to leadership, and culture stereotypes that cause issues from respected women in the workplace on all levels (AAUW, 2016). Women primarily make up the healthcare workforce (Day & Christnacht, 2021). Women continue to be underrepresented and treated unfairly in the workplace (Krivkovich et al., 2022). Researchers have continued to find an epistemology in past research as many people determine that women continue to face barriers with their goals not just in healthcare, but all industries (Sibeoni et al., 2020). Women receive the same education and experience as their male colleagues, and still are paid less (Gould et al., 2016).

As more women enter higher levels of organizational leadership in accounting and finance, social change is occurring as the barriers between men's and women's roles and responsibilities become less prevalent. Gender equality is essential to promote a workplace in which abilities and skills are valued, regardless of preconceived biases and

stereotypes. As mentioned by participants, some viewed there does not need to be any changes taken for this study because they viewed the world already as equal. Some participants emphasized they hope someday gender will not play an issue and both genders will be respected and not a barrier. While other participants felt that it would be nice to have equality, but it will not ever occur with the constant social obligations, prejudice, biases, and stereotypes that the world perceives current genders in the workplace.

Conclusion

The study of the 17 participants highlighted the perceptions and experiences of human resource leaders and female healthcare workers on gender pay gaps. Many participants felt there was not active gender pay gaps or gender disparities, however, the majority of participants did feel there were active gender pay gaps along with barriers for women to have equality in the workplace. Reflecting back on Chapters 1 and 2, the theories that grounded this study included; situational leadership theory and feminist theory. The feminist theory uses a conflict approach to examine gender roles and inequalities (Conerly et al., 2021). For instance, radical feminism focuses on the family in the male dominance of perpetuation. Feminist theory identifies how gender is a factor on how humans are represented in reality. There is a constant problem of epistemic identification on the female subject as humans analyze gender differences and theorizing feminist politics concerning feminism and multiculturalism (Dietz, 2003).

Situational leadership theory is a repeatable framework used for leaders to match their own behaviors with individuals of their needs in an attempt to influence them (Hersey et al., 1979). The situational leadership theory uses logical and internal inconsistencies, conceptual ambiguity, incompleteness, and confusion with a relationship based on between the leader and follower based on their performance readiness. (Graeff, 1997).

Women are significantly underrepresented in hospital management positions, and because of this, gender disparity has changed over the past decades showing the struggles and barriers women face to achieve leadership roles (Sexton, 2014). For the future of healthcare, if a woman has the same experience and education compared to a man, instead of being bias and automatically giving the position to a gender where the enforcer is being biased, all future leadership healthcare positions should be equal to both men and women. More women should be given more management positions to prepare them for higher C-suite level positions including CEO of the hospital. Women found in leadership positions will promote unity between men and women in future roles of leadership in healthcare (AAUW, 2016).

Equality through pay is essential for men and women in all industries as it provides a voice and be able to be represented and protected throughout the workforce (Rescue, 2021). Women overtime have been shadowed overhead by men through leadership, advancement, management, pay differences, recognition, and much more (Knutson, 2022). Women have been a predominant gender throughout the workforce, but

still are treated of lesser value to men through leadership and fair pay opportunities (Parker, 2020). Throughout healthcare, women have been found in more areas than men, but are found in fewer management positions (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2021). Women in healthcare, experience unfair pay compared to men with the same education, experience, and qualifications working in the same roles as men (Aragao, 2023). Human Resource leaders are responsible for the recruitment, onboarding, and executing of employing organizations with professionals (Coursera, 2023). One of the onboarding tasks that Human Resource leaders are responsible for, is creating and producing the pay that a working professional will receive (Graham, 2020). As Human Resource leaders analyze a person's education, experience, and qualifications, they are then able to produce and conclude with an amount of pay that a professional will receive (ADP, n.d.). With a constant gender pay gap, Human Resource leaders must understand their role in preventing and limiting gender pay gaps for men and women who work in the same positions with equal qualifications of each other (Ashton, 2016). Equality of pay for men and women in healthcare is essential for the success of a healthcare organization for many reasons (WHO, 2022). Dismissing and not fixing gender pay equality can promote and result in the disruption and destruction of a unified healthcare organization (Treadwell, 2019).

References

- American Association of University Women. (2016, March). *Barriers & bias: The status*of women in leadership. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from

 https://www.aauw.org/app/uploads/2020/03/Barriers-and-Bias-nsa.pdf
- Abrams, Z. (2020, July 1). Leadership in times of crisis. *Monitor on Psychology*, 51(5). https://www.apa.org/monitor/2020/07/leadership-crisis
- Adam, K. (2022, September 10). Was queen Elizabeth II a feminist? *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/09/09/queen-elizabeth-feminism/
- ADP. (n.d.). *Human resource management?* https://www.adp.com/resources/articles-and-insights/articles/h/human-resource-management.aspx
- Ahmed, M. A., Chatterjee, M., Dadure, P., & Pakray, P. (2022). The role of biased data in computerized gender discrimination. *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Gender Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion in Software Engineering*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3524501.3527599
- Ainsworth, S., & Pekarek, A. (2022). Gender in human resources: Hiding in plain sight.

 Human Resource Management Journal, 32(4), 890–905.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12437
- ALobaid, A. M., Gosling, C., Khasawneh, E., McKenna, L., & Williams, B. (2020). challenges faced by female healthcare professionals in the workforce: A scoping

- review. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, *Volume 13*, 681–691. https://doi.org/10.2147/jmdh.s254922
- Albanesi, S., & Şahin, A. (2018). The gender unemployment gap. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 30, 47–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.red.2017.12.005
- Al-Sawai, A. (2013). Leadership of healthcare professionals: Where do we stand? *Oman Medical Journal*, 28(4), 285–287. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2013.79
- AMN Healthcare. (2018, February 13). Future for healthcare jobs: Seven charts show intensifying demand for services and workforce.
 - https://www.amnhealthcare.com/amn-insights/news/future-for-healthcare-jobs/
- André, N., & Agbangla, N. F. (2020). Are barriers the same whether I want to start or maintain exercise? A narrative review on healthy older adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176247
- Aragão, C. (2023, March 1). *Gender pay gap in U.S. hasn't changed much in two decades*. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2023/03/01/gender-pay-gap-facts/
- Ashton, D. (2016, December 2). What HR can do to fix the gender pay gap. Harvard

 Business Review. https://hbr.org/2014/12/what-hr-can-do-to-fix-the-gender-pay-gap
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42(2), 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7

- Barney, N., & Rosencrance, L. (2023, June 22). What is diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI)? TechTarget.
 - https://www.techtarget.com/searchhrsoftware/definition/diversity-equity-and-inclusion-DEI
- Barrett-Landau, S., & Henle, S. (2014). Men in nursing: Their influence in a female dominated career. *Journal of Leadership and Instruction*, *13*(2), 10–13. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1081399.pdf
- Barrett, M., & Moores, K. (2006). Women's leadership journeys in family firms:

 Preliminary results from a qualitative study. University of Wollongong.

 https://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1861&context=commpapers
- Barroso, A., & Brown, A. (2022, June 8). *Gender pay gap in U.S. held steady in 2020*.

 Pew Research Center. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from

 https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/05/25/gender-pay-gap-facts/
- Batson, A., Gupta, G. R., & Barry, M. (2021). More women must lead in Global Health:

 A focus on strategies to empower women leaders and advance gender equality.

 Annals of Global Health, 87(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.3213
- Belhadj, H., & Touré, A. (2008). Gender equality and the right to health. *The Lancet*, 372(9655), 2008–2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(08)61786-9
- Berlin, G., Darino, L., Groh, R., & Kumar, P. (2020, August 25). Women in healthcare:

 Moving from the front lines to the top rung. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved

 https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-

- insights/women-in-healthcare-moving-from-the-front-lines-to-the-top-rung
- Biancheri, R., & Landi, S. (2017). Gender and healthcare environments: a proposal of gender-sensitive methodology for improving the environmental quality in the existing heritage. https://doi.org/10.6092/2281-4574/5056
- Bioneers. (n.d.). *Everywoman's leadership*. https://bioneers.org/programs/everywomans-leadership/?gclid=CjwKCAjw5dqgBhBNEiwA7PryaE4GJfR8fOyCfh9KYNWz-K2e CCYIpPYCWnrI87z8jxt6v0fv8QcGhoCKCEQAvD BwE
- Block, K., Croft, A., De Souza, L., & Schmader, T. (2019). Do people care if men don't care about caring? The asymmetry in support for changing gender roles. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 83, 112–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2019.03.013
- Bolander, P., & Sandberg, J. (2013). How employee selection decisions are made in practice. *Organization Studies*, *34*(3), 285–311. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840612464757
- Bourke, J., & Titus, A. (2021, August 30). *The key to inclusive leadership*. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2020/03/the-key-to-inclusive-leadership
- Boyle, P. (2021, February 2). *Nation's physician workforce evolves: More women, a bit older, and toward different specialties*. Association of American Medical Colleges. https://www.aamc.org/news-insights/nation-s-physician-workforce-evolves-more-women-bit-older-and-toward-different-specialties
- Braddy, P. W., Sturm, R. E., Atwater, L., Taylor, S. N., & McKee, R. A. (2019). Gender

- bias still plagues the workplace: Looking at derailment risk and performance with self-other ratings. *Group & Organization Management*, *45*(3), 315–350. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601119867780
- Braithwaite, J. (2018). Changing how we think about healthcare improvement. *BMJ*, 361(k2014). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k2014
- Broome, R. (2011). Descriptive phenomenological psychological method: An example of a methodology section from doctoral dissertation. Phenomenology Blog. https://phenomenologyblog.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Broome-2011-Phenomenological-Psychological-Dissertation-Method-Chapter.pdf
- Butkus, R., Serchen, J., Moyer, D. V., Bornstein, S. S., & Hingle, S. T. (2018). Achieving gender equity in physician compensation and career advancement: A position paper of the American College of Physicians. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 168(10), 721. https://doi.org/10.7326/m17-3438
- Carnegie, M. (2023, July 20). Breaking the office bias: Smashing the workplace stereotypes holding women back. The Independent.

 https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/galaxy-the-ripple-effect/breaking-bias-workplace-stereotypes-b2366688.html
- Carnevale, A. P., Smith, N., & Gulish, A. (2018, June 14). Women can't win: Despite making educational gains and pursuing high-wage majors, women still earn less than men. VTechWorks Home. https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/84002 Charas, S., Griffeth, L., & Malik, R. (2015, November 16). Why men have more help

- getting to the C-suite. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2015/11/why-men-have-more-help-getting-to-the-c-suite
- Cherry, K. (2023, March 10). Why the most effective leaders know how to adapt to the situation. Verywell Mind. https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-the-situational-theory-of-leadership-2795321
- Chisholm, S. (2020, March 7). *Shirley Chisholm*. A Seat at the Table. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.bringyourownchair.org/about-shirley-chisholm/
- COE, n, a. (2022). Feminism and women's rights movements gender matters www.coe.int. Gender Matters. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.coe.int/en/web/gender-matters/feminism-and-women-s-rights-movements
- Cokely, C. (2020, May 15). *Rosie the Riveter*. Encyclopedia Britannica. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.britannica.com/topic/Rosie-the-Riveter
- Coleman, A., Dupont, R., & Rivera, N. (2022). *In pursuit of pay equity: Examining*barriers to equal pay, intersectional discrimination theory, and recent pay equity

 initiatives. US EEOC. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from

 https://www.eeoc.gov/pursuit-pay-equity-examining-barriers-equal-payintersectional-discrimination-theory-and-recent-pay
- Conerly, T., Holmes, K., & Tamang, A. (2021, June 3). *12.2 gender and gender*inequality introduction to sociology 3E. OpenStax. Retrieved January 14, 2023,
 from https://openstax.org/books/introduction-sociology-3e/pages/12-2-gender-

- and-gender-
- $inequality \#: \sim : text = Feminist \% 20 Theory \& text = It \% 20 uses \% 20 the \% 20 conflict \% 20 approach, valuable \% 20 than \% 20 those \% 20 of \% 20 women.$
- Congress, L. of. (2023). Women's suffrage in the Progressive Era: Progressive Era to

 New Era, 1900-1929: U.S. history primary source timeline: classroom materials

 at the Library of Congress: library of Congress. The Library of Congress.

 Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.loc.gov/classroom-materials/unitedstates-history-primary-source-timeline/progressive-era-to-new-era-19001929/womens-suffrage-in-progressive-era/
- Corporate Finance Institute. (2022, December 13). Supportive leadership.

 https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/management/supportive-leadership/
- Coursera, n, a. (2023, February 16). What is Human Resources (HR)? description, duties, and jobs. Coursera. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from https://www.coursera.org/articles/what-is-hr
- Crampton, S. M., & Mishra, J. M. (1999). Women in management. *Public Personnel Management*, 28(1), 87–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/009102609902800107
- Crossman, A. (2020, February 25). What is feminist theory? ThoughtCo. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.thoughtco.com/feminist-theory-3026624
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11(1).

- https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Daugherty, G. (2022, May 26). *The history of the gender wage gap in America*.

 Investopedia. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from

 https://www.investopedia.com/history-gender-wage-gap-america-5074898
- Day, J. C., & Christnacht, C. (2021, October 28). Women hold 76% of all health care jobs, gaining in higher-paying occupations. Census.gov. Retrieved April 2, 2023, from https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2019/08/your-health-care-in-womens-hands.html
- Debout, C. (2016). L'étude de Cas Qualitative. *Soins*, *61*(806), 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soin.2016.04.018
- Delve, H. L. (2022, September 1). What is Phenomenological Research Design? Delve.

 Retrieved March 12, 2023, from

 https://delvetool.com/blog/phenomenology#:~:text=Phenomenological%20resear
 ch%20is%20a%20qualitative,preconceived%20assumptions%20about%20the%2

 Ophenomenon.
- Desai, T., Ali, S., Fang, X., Thompson, W., Jawa, P., & Vachharajani, T. (2016). Equal work for unequal pay: The gender reimbursement gap for healthcare providers in the United States. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, *92*(1092), 571-575.

 DOI:10.1136/postgradmedj-2016-134094
- Devlin, H. (2015, May 14). Early men and women were equal, say scientists. The Guardian. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from

- https://www.theguardian.com/science/2015/may/14/early-men-women-equal-scientists
- Dictionary, n, a. (2022). *Compensation definition & meaning*. Dictionary.com. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://www.dictionary.com/browse/compensation
- Director, S. N. A., Nadeau, S., Director, A., President, J. C. V., Cusick, J., President, V.,
 Shepherd Director, M., Shepherd, M., Director, n, a, Director, E. L. A., Lofgren,
 E., McConville, D., Jarsulic, M., Sutton, T., & Zhavoronkova, M. (2021,
 December 3). *The Equal Rights Amendment: What you need to know*. Center for
 American Progress. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from
 https://www.americanprogress.org/article/equal-rights-amendment-need-know/
- Dolcemascolo, A. (2021, April 29). The role of gender in Medical Professionals:

 Analysis of Nurse Practitioners (NP), physician assistant (PA), and medical doctor (MD). DigitalCommons@SHU. Retrieved December 31, 2022, from https://digitalcommons.sacredheart.edu/acadfest/2021/all/36/
- Downs, J. A., Reif, L. K., Hokororo, A., & Fitzgerald, D. W. (2014). Increasing women in leadership in global health. *Academic Medicine*, 89(8), 1103–1107. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.0000000000000369
- Do, M. H., & Lipner, S. R. (2020). Contribution of gender on compensation of Veterans

 Affairs-affiliated dermatologists: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Women's Dermatology*, 6(5), 414–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijwd.2020.09.009

 Eagly, A., & Carli, L. (2018, November 6). *Women and the Labyrinth of Leadership*.

- Harvard Business Review. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://hbr.org/2007/09/women-and-the-labyrinth-of-leadership
- Eagly, A. H., & Carli, L. L. (2012). Women and the Labyrinth of Leadership. Routledge.
- EEOC, n, a. (2023). *The Equal Pay Act of 1963*. https://www.eeoc.gov/statutes/equal-pay-act-1963
- Eastern Kentucky University. (n.d.). *What is feminism?* https://wgs.eku.edu/what-feminism#:~:text=Feminist%20theory%20aims%20to%20understand,of%20gend er%20roles%20and%20relations
- Elliott, V. (2020, November 19). A great inheritance: Abolitionist practices in the

 Women's Rights Movement (U.S. National Park Service). National Parks Service.

 Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/a-great-inheritance-abolitionist-practices-in-the-women-s-rights-movement.htm
- Ely, R., Stone, P., & Ammerman, C. (2015, January 16). Rethink what you "know" about high-achieving women. Harvard Business Review.
 - https://hbr.org/2014/12/rethink-what-you-know-about-high-achieving-women
- Epadmin, n, a. (2023, April 4). Diversity in the workplace: Workplace diversity:

 Managing diversity. PeopleScout.
 - https://www.peoplescout.com/insights/managing-diversity-in-workplace/
- Evans, J. R., & Mathur, A. (2018). The value of online surveys: A look back and a look ahead. *Internet Research*, 28(4), 854–887. https://doi.org/10.1108/intr-03-2018-0089

- Ferguson, K. E. (2017). Feminist theory Today. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 20(1), 269–286. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-052715-111648
- Ferry, K. (2023). *Contract recruiting services*. Korn Ferry.

 https://www.kornferry.com/capabilities/talent-acquisition/contract-recruiting-services
- Fisher, A. (2022, June 17). Women's rights and the Civil Rights Act of 1964. National Archives and Records Administration. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.archives.gov/women/1964-civil-rights-act
- Fontenot, T. (2012). Leading ladies: Women in healthcare leadership. *Frontiers of Health Services Management*, 28(4), 11-21. https://doi.org/10.1097/01974520-201204000-00003
- Frechette, J., Bitzas, V., Aubry, M., Kilpatrick, K., & Lavoie-Tremblay, M. (2020).

 Capturing lived experience: Methodological considerations for Interpretive

 Phenomenological Inquiry. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19,

 160940692090725. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920907254
- Frontiers, N. (2020). New frontiers Summer 2020 home | JFK library. New Frontiers

 Summer 2020. Retrieved February 28, 2023, from

 https://www.jfklibrary.org/sites/default/files/2020
 07/New%20Frontiers%20Summer%202020.pdf
- Funk, C. (2020, August 21). Women and men in STEM often at odds over workplace equity. Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project. Retrieved

- March 19, 2023, from https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/01/09/women-and-men-in-stem-often-at-odds-over-workplace-equity/
- Gaur, A., Augustyn, A., Zeidan, A., Batra, A., Zelazko, A., Eldridge, A., & McKenna, A.
 (2022, July 12). Seneca Falls Convention. Encyclopedia Britannica. Retrieved
 January 27, 2023, from https://www.britannica.com/event/Seneca-Falls-Convention
- Ginzberg, L. (2020, December 14). "all men and women are created equal:" The life of

 Elizabeth cady Stanton (U.S. National Park Service). National Parks Service.

 Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/-all-men-and-women-are-created-equal-the-life-of-elizabeth-cady-stanton.htm
- Goodwin, E. A. J. (2017, May 1). Mary Magdalene as a renewed feminist icon:

 *Representations in the Christian tradition as a resource for Contemporary

 Liberation theology. Inquiries Journal. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from

 http://www.inquiriesjournal.com/articles/1640/mary-magdalene-as-a-renewed
 feminist-icon-representations-in-the-christian-tradition-as-a-resource-for
 contemporary-liberation-theology
- Gould, E., Schieder, J., & Geier, K. (2016, October 20). What is the gender pay gap and is it real? The Complete Guide to how women are paid less than men and why it can't be explained away. Economic Policy Institute. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.epi.org/publication/what-is-the-gender-pay-gap-and-is-it-real/

- Graham, T. (2020, June 25). *Employee onboarding as a shared responsibility*. KPA.

 Retrieved March 12, 2023, from https://www.kpa.io/blog/employee-onboarding-as-a-shared-responsibility
- Groenewald, T. (2004). A phenomenological research design illustrated. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *3*(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690400300104
- Guo, W., Liu, G., Ma, L., Gao, B., Wang, W., Hu, Z., Tian, Y., Xiao, W., & Qiao, H. (2022). The impact of healthcare reform on the dynamic changes in Health Service Utilization and Equity: A 10-year follow-up study. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-07405-y
- Hameed, A. (2022). *Blanche of Castile*. YourDictionary. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://biography.yourdictionary.com/blanche-of-castile
- Hangartner, D., Kopp, D., & Siegenthaler, M. (2021). Monitoring hiring discrimination through online recruitment platforms. *Nature*, *589*(7843), 572–576. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-03136-0
- Hannabuss, S. (1996). Research interviews. *New Library World*, 97(5), 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1108/03074809610122881
- Hanson, C. S., Ju, A., & Tong, A. (2019). Appraisal of qualitative studies. *Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences*, 1013–1026. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5251-4_119
- Harris, B. (2021, October 22). National strategy on gender equity and equality the white

- house. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/National-Strategy-on-Gender-Equity-and-Equality.pdf
- Hasa, n, a. (2016, December 22). Difference between perception and perspective:

 Definition, meaning, relationship. Pediaa.Com. Retrieved December 27, 2022,
 from https://pediaa.com/difference-between-perception-and-perspective/
- Hauser, M. C. (2014). Leveraging Women's Leadership Talent in Healthcare. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 59(5), 318-322. DOI:10.1097/00115514-201409000-00004
- Healthcare, M. (2021, June 9). Next up podcast: How to dominate in a male-dominated industry. Modern Healthcare. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.modernhealthcare.com/labor/how-women-healthcare-can-make-it-c-suite-
 - 0#:~:text=Today%2C%20we%20will%20be%20discussing,20%25%20hold%20k ey%20leadership%20positions.
- Heartpace, n, a. (2019, December 12). *HR's role in the gender pay gap*. Heartpace Blog. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://heartpace.com/blog/post/hrs-role-in-the-gender-pay-gap/
- Hedreen, S. (2023, February 21). *The dangers of gendered jobs*. Business News Daily. https://www.businessnewsdaily.com/10085-male-female-dominated-jobs.html
- Hennekam, S. (2016). Identity transition during pregnancy: The importance of role models. *Human Relations*, 69(9), 1765–1790.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726716631402
- Hentze, I., & Tyus, R. (2021, August 12). Summary discrimination and harassment in the workplace. National Conference of State Legislatures. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.ncsl.org/labor-and-employment/discrimination-and-harassment-in-the-workplace
- Heritage, M. C. and. (2018, December). *New Zealand women and the vote*. RSS.

 Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://nzhistory.govt.nz/politics/womens-suffrage
- Hersey, P., Blanchard, K. H., & Natemeyer, W. E. (1979). Situational leadership, perception, and the impact of power. *Group & Organization Studies*, *4*(4), 418–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/105960117900400404
- Hollis, V., Openshaw, S., & Goble, R. (2002). Conducting focus groups: Purpose and practicalities. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 65(1), 2–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/030802260206500102
- Hood, J. C. (1986). The provider role: Its meaning and measurement. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 48(2), 349. https://doi.org/10.2307/352402
- Hortsman, C. (2022, July 27). *Male physicians earn more than women in primary and specialty care*. Commonwealth Fund. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from

- https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/male-physicians-earn-more-women-primary-and-specialty-care
- House, T. white. (2021, January 21). Executive order on preventing and combating discrimination on the basis of gender identity or sexual orientation. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/20/executive-order-preventing-and-combating-discrimination-on-basis-of-gender-identity-or-sexual-orientation/
- HPSC, n, a. (2021, May 24). *Definition of a healthcare worker*. Healthcare Worker definition Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://www.hpsc.ie/notifiablediseases/casedefinitions/healthcareworkerdefinition
- Humm, M. (2021). The dictionary of feminist theory. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781474469401
- Iacurci, G. (2022, May 19). Women are still paid 83 cents for every dollar men earn.
 here's why. CNBC. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from
 https://www.cnbc.com/2022/05/19/women-are-still-paid-83-cents-for-every-dollar-men-earn-heres-why.html
- Ibarra, H., & Scoular, A. (2022, December 13). *The leader as coach*. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://hbr.org/2019/11/the-leader-ascoach

- Ilo, n, a. (2011, November 23). *Gender inequality and women in the US labor force*.

 Gender Inequality and Women in the US Labor Force.

 https://www.ilo.org/washington/areas/gender-equality-in-the-workplace/WCMS 159496/lang--en/index.htm
- IMD, n, a. (2023, January 27). *The 15 genuine benefits of situational leadership in 2023*.

 IMD business school for management and leadership courses. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.imd.org/reflections/situational-leadership/
- Indeed, Editorial Team, n, a. (2020, August 20). What is Career Advancement? definition and examples indeed. Indeed. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://www.indeed.com/career-advice/career-development/what-is-career-advancement
- IOM, n, a. (2011). Transforming leadership the future of Nursing NCBI Bookshelf.
 National Library of Medicine. Retrieved March 20, 2023, from
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK209867/
- Jeandet, Y. (2023, January 1). *Blanche of Castile*. Encyclopedia Britannica. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.britannica.com/biography/Blanche-of-Castile-wife-of-Louis-VIII
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020a). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 7120. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Kachel, S., Steffens, M. C., & Niedlich, C. (2016). Traditional masculinity and

- femininity: Validation of a new scale assessing gender roles. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00956
- Kalaitzi, S., Czabanowska, K., Azzopardi-Muscat, N., Cuschieri, L., Petelos, E.,
 Papadakaki, M., & Babich, S. (2019). Women, healthcare leadership and Societal
 Culture: A qualitative study. *Journal of Healthcare Leadership*, *Volume 11*, 43–59. https://doi.org/10.2147/jhl.s194733
- Keller, S. (2017, November 24). Attracting and retaining the right talent. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/people-and-organizational-performance/our-insights/attracting-and-retaining-the-right-talent
- Keohane, N. O. (2020). Women, Power & Leadership. *Women & Equality*, 149(1), 236–250. https://doi.org/https://www.jstor.org/stable/48563044
- Ketchen, D., Short, J., Try, D., & Edwards, J. (2014, September 12). *Vision, mission, and goals*. Mastering Strategic Management 1st Canadian Edition. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://opentextbc.ca/strategicmanagement/chapter/vision-mission-and-goals/
- Kiessig, N. (2021, January 6). 'building forward better' why women's leadership matters. International Leadership Association. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://ilaglobalnetwork.org/building-forward-better-why-womens-leadership-matters/?gclid=CjwKCAjw5dqgBhBNEiwA7PryaH7zBCtsWxyU3Jl8Dt66xYNg XUfTkqO3kmd1yuAhke CpDba3fagZBoCzP8QAvD BwE

- Kirchheimer, B. (2007). A woman's place is in... healthcare, as Modern Healthcare's Top 25 Women connote explosive growth in the number of female executives in C-suites. Modern Healthcare, 37(16), 6. Lantz, P. M. (2008). Gender and Leadership in Healthcare Administration: 21st Century Progress and Challenges. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 53(5), 291-301. DOI:10.1097/00115514-200809000-00004
- Kleinberg, J., Ludwig, J., Mullainathan, S., & Sunstein, C. R. (2018). Discrimination in the age of algorithms. *Journal of Legal Analysis*, *10*, 113–174. https://doi.org/10.1093/jla/laz001
- Knutson, T. (2022, April 14). Women managers face disparities in pay and challenges advancing their careers says Gao Report. Forbes. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/tedknutson/2022/03/15/women-managers-face-disparities-in-pay-and-challenges-advancing-their-careers-says-gao-report/?sh=79556b24910b
- Korolija, D. M., Kirac, I., Mayer, L., & Varga, S. (2022). Gender equality in leading Cancer Centers. *Libri Oncologici Croatian Journal of Oncology*, 50(2-3), 49–51. https://doi.org/10.20471/lo.2022.50.02-03.09
- Krivkovich, A., Liu, W. W., Nguyen, H., Rambachan, I., Robinson, N., Williams, M., & Yee, L. (2022, October 18). *Women in the workplace 2022*. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved April 2, 2023, from https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/diversity-and-inclusion/women-in-the-workplace

- Larsen, A. M. G., Pories, S., Parangi, S., & Robertson, F. C. (2019). Barriers to pursuing a career in surgery. *Annals of Surgery*, 273(6), 1120–1126. https://doi.org/10.1097/sla.0000000000003618
- Layne, R. (2017, September 8). *The unfortunate truth about most health care jobs*. CBS

 News. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from

 https://www.cbsnews.com/news/health-care-jobs-salary-the-unfortunate-truth/
- Lee, N., O'Donnell, M., & Ross, K. (2020, September 10). Gender Equity in

 Development Finance Survey. Center for Global Development | Ideas to Action.

 Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.cgdev.org/publication/gender-equity-development-finance-survey?gclid=CjwKCAjw5dqgBhBNEiwA7PryaG_N0f_NWSM_PeIf-5LErfY5DRbpjioO_XfbWICsMAmdOVDHjNB2WhoC2M0QAvD_BwE
- Lester, S. (1999). *Phenomenological research note royal geographical society*. Stan

 Lester Developments. Retrieved March 13, 2023, from

 https://www.rgs.org/CMSPages/GetFile.aspx?nodeguid=7ad9b8d4-6a93-4269-94d2-585983364b51&lang=en-GB
- Lewis, J. J. (2020, November 25). What is radical feminism? ThoughtCo. Retrieved

 December 27, 2022, from https://www.thoughtco.com/what-is-radical-feminism3528997
- Lips, H. M. (2012). The Gender Pay Gap: Challenging the Rationalizations. Perceived Equity, *Discrimination, and the Limits of Human Capital Models*. Sex Roles,

- 68(3-4), 169-185. DOI:10.1007/s11199-012-0165-z
- Liss, S. (2021, November 1). *Nurses bore the brunt of the pandemic. Nearly 9 in 10 of them are women.* Healthcare Dive. https://www.healthcaredive.com/news/nurses-brunt-pandemic-covid-19-women/607659/
- Loblack, J. (2023, February 8). 7 traits of emotionally intelligent leaders. Nonprofit

 Leadership Center of Tampa Bay. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from

 https://nlctb.org/tips/7-traits-of-emotionally-intelligentleaders/?gclid=CjwKCAjw5dqgBhBNEiwA7PryaIFG3Cv5HHQMTsSJzfCJasOT

 BngJTttptDDW91GL18IUOsVTy7EC4RoCEdEQAvD_BwE
- Long, H., Fowers, A., & Dam, A. V. (2021, September 8). Why America has 8.4 million unemployed when there are 10 million job openings. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2021/09/04/ten-million-job-openings-labor-shortage/
- Lorris, G. de, Meun, J. de, & Victorio, J. (1998). Roman de la Rose. Cátedra.
- Lumen, L. (2023). *Principles of Management*. https://courses.lumenlearning.com/wm-principlesofmanagement/chapter/recruiting-and-selecting-qualified-job-applicants/
- Lytle, T. (2020, February 28). *The health care industry's top HR challenges*. SHRM.

 Retrieved April 2, 2023, from https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/news/hr-magazine/spring2020/pages/health-care-industry-top-hr-challenges.aspx
- Mahase, E. (2022). Pay gap: Women in Healthcare sector earn 24% less than men,

- international report finds. BMJ. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.o1748
- Mangurian, C., Linos, E., Sarkar, U., Rodriguez, C., & Jagsi, R. (2018, November 7).

 What's holding women in medicine back from leadership. Harvard Business

 Review. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from https://hbr.org/2018/06/whats-holding-women-in-medicine-back-from-leadership
- Mansh, M., Garcia, G., & Lunn, M. R. (2015). From patients to providers: Changing the Culture in Medicine Toward Sexual and Gender Minorities. *Academic Medicine*, 90(5), 574–580. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.00000000000000656
- Marcus, B. (2016, August 29). *The top 5 sacrifices women make for their career*. Forbes.

 Retrieved January 4, 2023, from

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/bonniemarcus/2016/08/29/the-top-5-sacrifices-women-make-for-their-career/?sh=7eb74a9b7d75
- Massaquoi, M. A., Reese, T. R., Barrett, J., & Nguyen, D. (2021). Perceptions of gender and race equality in leadership and advancement among military family physicians. *Military Medicine*, *186*(Supplement_1), 762–766. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usaa387
- Matheolus, n, a. (1295). *The Lamentations of Matheolus*. É. Bouillon.
- Mcleod, S. (2018). *Questionnaire: Definition, examples, design and types*. Questionnaire: Definition, Examples, Design and Types Simply Psychology. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://www.simplypsychology.org/questionnaires.html Meagher, K., Attal, B., & Patel, P. (2021). Exploring the role of gender and women in the

- political economy of Health in Armed Conflict: A Narrative Review.

 Globalization and Health, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-021-00738-9
- Meleis, A. I., & Lindgren, T. G. (2002). Man works from sun to sun, but woman's work is never done: Insights on research and policy. *Health Care for Women International*, 23(6-7), 742–753. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399330290107485
- Merriam-Webster, n, a. (2022). *Health Care Definition & meaning*. Merriam-Webster. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/health%20care
- Michas, F. (2022, June 8). *Total active doctors in the U.S. by state 2022*. Statista.

 Retrieved January 4, 2023, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/186269/total-active-physicians-in-the-us/#:~:text=As%20of%20May%202022%2C%20the,physicians%2C%20followed%20by%20New%20York.
- Michel, W. &. (2016, April 9). *Michel: King*. Michel | King. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.wmalabamalaw.com/employment-law-blog/2016/april/4-exceptions-to-equal-pay/
- Migdol, E. (2021, March 11). What was Life like for women in the middle ages? Getty.

 Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.getty.edu/news/what-was-life-like-for-women-in-the-middle-ages/
- Miller, A. L., & Borgida, E. (2016). The separate spheres model of gendered inequality. *PLOS ONE*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147315

- Miller, K., & Vagins, D. J. (2017, November 30). *The simple truth about the gender pay* gap. Fall 2018 edition. American Association of University Women. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED596219
- Minemyer, P. (2019, January 7). *Study: Women make up only 30% of healthcare*executives. here's a look at why. Fierce Healthcare. Retrieved March 5, 2023,
 from https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/hospitals-health-systems/invisible-barriers-to-women-s-advancement-healthcare-c-suite
- Nagele-Piazza, L. (2022, December 15). *The importance of pay equity*. SHRM. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/news/hr-magazine/spring2020/pages/importance-of-pay-equity.aspx
- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- Nations, U. (2022). *History of the UN seventieth anniversary*. United Nations. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.un.org/un70/en/content/history/index.html
- Ndugga, N., & Artiga, S. (2021, May 12). *Disparities in health and health care: 5 key questions and answers*. KFF. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/disparities-in-health-and-health-care-5-key-question-and-answers/
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2

- Newman, C. (2014). Time to address gender discrimination and inequality in the health workforce. *Human Resources for Health*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-4491-12-25
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 22(3), 67–68. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145
- OKIN, S. M. (1994). Gender inequality and cultural differences. *Political Theory*, 22(1), 5–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/0090591794022001002
- O'Neill, A. (2022, September 21). Longest reigning British monarchs 827-2022. Statista.

 Retrieved January 27, 2023, from

 https://www.statista.com/statistics/1030708/reign-of-britishmonarchs/#:~:text=Between%201952%20and%202022%2C%20Elizabeth,death
 %20on%20September%208%2C%202022.
- Palmer, F. (2022, March 28). *A seat at the table: Female leadership in healthcare and entrepreneurship*. MBA | Baylor University. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.baylor.edu/business/mba/news.php?action=story&story=227229
- Parent, A. (2023, January 19). *Physician compensation models: The basics, the Pros, and the cons*. NEJM Career Center Resources. Retrieved March 5, 2023, from https://resources.nejmcareercenter.org/article/physician-compensation-models-the-basics-the-pros-and-the-cons/
- Parker, K. (2020, August 7). Women in majority-male workplaces report higher rates of gender discrimination. Pew Research Center. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from

- https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/03/07/women-in-majority-male-workplaces-report-higher-rates-of-gender-discrimination/
- Pavlou, C. (2023, September 26). Recruiter vs hiring manager: Who is really responsible for hiring? Recruiting Resources: How to Recruit and Hire Better.

 https://resources.workable.com/stories-and-insights/recruiter-vs-hiring-manager-responsibilities
- Pelta, R. (2023, May 11). Education vs experience: What do employers want more?

 FlexJobs Job Search Tips and Blog.

 https://www.flexjobs.com/blog/post/education-vs-experience/
- Pérez-Sánchez, S., Madueño, S. E., & Montaner, J. (2021). Gender gap in the leadership of Health Institutions: The influence of hospital-level factors. *Health Equity*, *5*(1), 521–525. https://doi.org/10.1089/heq.2021.0013
- Pew Research Center. (2013, December 11). Chapter 2: Equal treatment for men and women. Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2013/12/11/chapter-2-equal-treatment-for-men-and-women/
- Pizan, C. de. (1405). The Book of the City of Ladies. Paris.
- Plietz, C. O. (2012). Generation Next and the Female Brand in Healthcare Management.

 Frontiers of Health Services Management, 28(4), 29-32. DOI:10.1097/01974520-201204000-00005
- Politico, n, a. (2022). Equal pay bill introduced, June 19, 1944. POLITICO. Retrieved

- February 27, 2023, from https://www.politico.com/story/2009/06/equal-pay-bill-introduced-june-19-1944-023892
- Ponthieux, S., & Meurs, D. (2015). Gender inequality. *Handbook of Income Distribution*, 981–1146. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-59428-0.00013-8
- Prentice, W. C. H. (2022, April 11). *Understanding leadership*. Harvard Business

 Review. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://hbr.org/2004/01/understanding-leadership
- Rabarison, K., Ingram, R. C., & Holsinger, J. W. (2013). Application of situational leadership to the National Voluntary Public Health Accreditation Process.

 Frontiers in Public Health, 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2013.00026
- Radcliffe, M. (2000). Doctors and nurses: New Game, same result. *BMJ*, *320*(7241), 1085–1085. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.320.7241.1085
- Reddy, S. (2022, July 13). Women in the health and care sector earn 24 percent less than men. World Health Organization. Retrieved December 31, 2022, from https://www.who.int/news/item/13-07-2022-women-in-the-health-and-care-sector-earn-24-percent-less-than-men
- Renjith, V., Yesodharan, R., Noronha, J., Ladd, E., & George, A. (2021). Qualitative Methods in Health Care Research. *National Library of Medicine*, *12*(20). https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM_321_19
- Rescue, H. R. S. and. (2021, June 8). Why equal pay matters in the workplace. HR Search & Rescue. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from https://hrsearchandrescue.com/why-

- equal-pay-matters-in-the-workplace/#:~:text=The%20Importance%20of%20Equal%20Pay,and%20resources%20to%20feel%20secure.
- Restar, A. J., Sherwood, J., Edeza, A., Collins, C., & Operario, D. (2021). Expanding gender-based health equity framework for transgender populations. *Transgender Health*, 6(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1089/trgh.2020.0026
- Rogers, W. A. (2006). Feminism and Public Health Ethics. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 32(6), 351–354. https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.2005.013466
- Rolleri, L. (2013, December). *Gender and Sexual Health, part 1: Understanding gender*and gender equality. ACT for Youth Center of Excellence Research Facts and
 Findings. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from

 https://www.actforyouth.net/resources/rf/rf_gender1_1213.pdf
- Russell, M. S., Krentz, M., Abouzahr, K., & Doyle, M. (2022, August 23). *Women dominate health care-just not in the executive suite*. BCG Global. Retrieved December 27, 2022, from https://www.bcg.com/publications/2019/womendominate-health-care-not-in-executive-suite
- Samarasekera, U. (2022). 6 million female health workers are unpaid or underpaid. *The Lancet*, 400(10346), 87. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(22)01269-7
- Schieder, J., & Gould, E. (2016, July 20). "Women's work" and the gender pay gap: How discrimination, societal norms, and other forces affect women's occupational choices-and their pay. Economic Policy Institute. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from

- https://www.epi.org/publication/womens-work-and-the-gender-pay-gap-how-discrimination-societal-norms-and-other-forces-affect-womens-occupational-choices-and-their-pay/
- Schooley, S. (2023, September 21). *Best practices to improve your hiring and recruitment process*. Business News Daily.

 https://www.businessnewsdaily.com/7155-startup-hiring-tips.html
- Searing, L. (2019, December 23). The Big Number: Women now outnumber men in medical schools. Retrieved July 18, 2020, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/the-big-number-women-now-outnumber-men-in-medical-schools/2019/12/20/8b9eddea-2277-11ea-bed5-880264cc91a9_story.html
- Sexton, D. W., Lemak, C. H., & Wainio, J. A. (2014). Career Inflection Points of Women Who Successfully Achieved the Hospital CEO Position. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 59(5), 367-384. DOI:10.1097/00115514-201409000-00011
- Sfantou, D., Laliotis, A., Patelarou, A., Sifaki- Pistolla, D., Matalliotakis, M., & Patelarou, E. (2017). Importance of leadership style towards quality-of-care measures in healthcare settings: A systematic review. *Healthcare*, *5*(4), 73. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare5040073
- Shai, A., Koffler, S., & Hashiloni-Dolev, Y. (2021). Feminism, gender medicine and beyond: A feminist analysis of "Gender medicine". *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01511-5

- Sibeoni, J., Verneuil, L., Manolios, E., & Révah-Levy, A. (2020). A specific method for qualitative medical research: The IPSE (inductive process to analyze the structure of lived experience) approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-020-01099-4
- Smith, M. (2021, December 20). Women earn \$2 million less than men as doctors over a 40-year career, according to a new study. CNBC. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.cnbc.com/2021/12/20/study-women-earn-2-million-dollars-less-than-men-as-doctors-over-their-career.html#:~:text=a%20new%20study-,Women%20earn%20%242%20million%20less%20than%20men%20as%20doct ors%20over,according%20to%20a%20new%20study&text=Female%20doctors%20are%20paid%20significantly,according%20to%20a%20new%20study.
- Soklaridis, S., & López, J. (2014). Women for a change: Closing the leadership gap.

 *Academic Psychiatry, 38(6), 731–736. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40596-014-0215-7
- Spector, N. D., Asante, P. A., Marcelin, J. R., Poorman, J. A., Larson, A. R., Salles, A., Oxentenko, A. S., & Silver, J. K. (2019). Women in pediatrics: Progress, barriers, and opportunities for equity, diversity, and inclusion. *Pediatrics*, *144*(5). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-2149
- S&P Global. (2021, February 5). *Gender equality in the workplace: Going beyond women on the Board*. S&P Global.

 https://www.spglobal.com/esg/csa/yearbook/articles/gender-equality-workplace-

going-beyond-women-on-the-board

- Srivastava, H. (2020, February 5). What is the HR department and what does it do for employees? Capterra. https://www.capterra.com/resources/what-hr-does-for-employees/
- Stamarski, C. S., & Son Hing, L. S. (2015). Gender inequalities in the workplace: The effects of organizational structures, processes, practices, and decision makers' sexism. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01400
- STU, O. (2022, June 16). What is situational leadership? flexibility leads to success.

 STU. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from

 https://online.stu.edu/degrees/education/what-is-situational-leadership/
- Thompson, G., & Glasø, L. (2018). Situational leadership theory: A test from a leader-follower congruence approach. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(5), 574–591. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-01-2018-0050
- Thompson, V. (2016, September 29). *The importance of education in finding a Job*.

 Education. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from

 https://education.seattlepi.com/importance-education-finding-job-1207.html
- Timewise, n, a. (2022, July 21). *The real reasons behind the gender pay gap*. Timewise.

 Retrieved December 31, 2022, from https://timewise.co.uk/article/article-real-reasons-behind-gender-pay-gap/
- Tinsley, C., & Ely, R. (2019, November 19). What most companies get wrong about men and women. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from https://hbr.org/2018/05/what-most-people-get-wrong-about-men-and-women

- Treadwell, H. M. (2019). Wages and women in health care: The race and gender gap.

 *American Journal of Public Health, 109(2), 208–209.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2018.304866
- Turner, J. F. (2022, March 14). *4 lessons from Jesus' female funders*. National Christian Foundation. Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://www.ncfgiving.com/stories/4-lessons-from-the-women-who-followed-jesus-from-galilee/
- Umanailo, M. C. B. (2019). *Overview Phenomenological Research*. https://doi.org/10.31222/osf.io/4t2fv
- University, W. (2020, October 22). What is situational leadership? Western Governors University. https://www.wgu.edu/blog/what-situational-leadership2010.html
- USC Price, n, a. (2022, September 22). Women in health care leadership: Past, present and future. USC EMHA Online. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from https://healthadministrationdegree.usc.edu/blog/women-in-health-care-leadership/
- User, S. (2022). *Sectors of healthcare industry*. TechnoFunc. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from https://www.technofunc.com/index.php/domain-knowledge/healthcare-industry/item/sectors-of-healthcare-industry
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2021, April 1). Women in the labor force: A databook.

 BLS Reports. https://www.bls.gov/opub/reports/womens-databook/2020/home.htm
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2023). Employed persons by detailed occupation, sex,

- race, and Hispanic or Latino ethnicity. https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat11.htm
- U.S. National Archives. (2023). Equal pay for women.
 - https://education.blogs.archives.gov/2017/06/23/equal-pay-for-women
- Veenstra, G. (2011). Race, gender, class, and sexual orientation: Intersecting axes of inequality and self-rated health in Canada. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 10(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-10-3
- Villines, Z. (2021, October 25). *Gender bias in healthcare: Examples and consequences*.

 Medical News Today. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from

 https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/gender-bias-in-healthcare
- Vlassoff, C. (2007, March 25). *Gender differences in determinants and consequences of health and illness*. Journal of health, population, and nutrition. Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17615903/
- Vohnoutka, R. N. (2022, September 28). *Male nurse salary: Do men earn more than women rns?* Incredible Health. Retrieved February 24, 2023, from https://www.incrediblehealth.com/blog/male-rn-salary/#:~:text=According%20to%20an%20American%20Journal,age%2C%20ed ucation%2C%20and%20specialty.
- Wade, M. E. (2001). Women and salary negotiation: The costs of self-advocacy.

 *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 25(1), 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-6402.00008
- Warner, A. S., & Lehmann, L. S. (2019). Gender wage disparities in medicine: Time to

- close the gap. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *34*(7), 1334–1336. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-04940-9
- Wilkie, J. R. (1993). Changes in U.S. men's attitudes toward the family provider role, 1972-1989. *Gender & Society*, 7(2), 261–279. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124393007002007
- Wolf, J. (2022, July 15). Situational leadership®: What it is and how to build it (with examples). Situational Leadership®: What it Is and How to Build It (With Examples). Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.betterup.com/blog/situational-leadership-examples
- Women, U. N. (2021, September 14). *Gender equality and the UN General Assembly:*Facts and history to know. UN Women Headquarters. Retrieved January 27,
 2023, from https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2021/9/feature-gender-equality-and-the-general-assembly-facts-and-history
- Women, U. N. (2021, March 1). *Claiming women's space in leadership*. Medium.

 Retrieved January 27, 2023, from https://un-women.medium.com/claiming-womens-space-in-leadership-6acc13946e2
- Women, U. N. (2022). Equal pay for work of equal value. UN Women Headquarters.

 Retrieved March 19, 2023, from https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/infocus/csw61/equal-pay
- World Health Organization. (2019). Delivered by women, led by men: A gender and equity analysis of the global health and social workforce.

- https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311322/9789241515467-eng.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2023). Value gender and equity in the global health workforce. https://www.who.int/activities/value-gender-and-equity-in-the-global-health-workforce
- Yang, H.-C. (2020). What should be taught and what is taught: Integrating gender into medical and Health Professions Education for medical and nursing students.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(18), 6555. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186555
- Yellen, J. L. (2021, January 6). *The history of women's work and wages and how it has* created success for us all. Brookings. Retrieved January 3, 2023, from https://www.brookings.edu/essay/the-history-of-womens-work-and-wages-and-how-it-has-created-success-for-us-all/
- Zeinali, Z. (2022). Women in health systems leadership: Demystifying the Labyrinth.

 Women and Global Health Leadership, 183–196. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-84498-1_18
- Zenger, J., & Folkman, J. (2021, September 17). Research: Women score higher than men in most leadership skills. Harvard Business Review.

 https://hbr.org/2019/06/research-women-score-higher-than-men-in-most-leadership-skills
- Zippia, n, a. (2022, September 9). *Doctor demographics and statistics [2023]: Number of doctors in the US.* Doctor Demographics and Statistics [2023]: Number Of

Doctors In The US. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from

https://www.zippia.com/doctor-jobs/demographics/

Appendix: Final Interview Guide

Opening Phase

Hello and thank you for your willingness to participate in today's interview with me, MaKormick Claypool, a Ph.D. student at Walden University. Thank you for agreeing to do this interview today and returning the informed consent to me. The information gathered today will be recorded and transcribed in confidence for the purposes of my dissertation alone. Your name and company will not be identified in this study and every effort will be made to keep your responses in complete confidence. This is a safe, private place and your responses will not be judged in any manner. Do I have your permission to proceed?

Introduction Phase

Purpose Statement. I would like to restate the purpose of this study. The purpose of this qualitative case study is to explore the experiences and perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps and the perceptions of people that identify as women in healthcare professional roles on their perceptions for gender pay gap in the same roles as those that identify as male. This study will be used in my dissertation toward obtaining a Ph.D. in Health Care Administration with Walden University. Your participation is voluntary, and you may stop at any time. I will be recording the audio during today's meeting. Do you have any further questions before we proceed? I will start recording now.

Transition Phase

Demographic and Ice-Breaker Questions

I'd like to get to know a little bit about you before we plunge into the main questions.

- 1. How many years have you worked in healthcare?
- 2. To your knowledge, is your current organization a for-profit or non-profit organization?
- 3. Are you currently working fulltime or part-time in healthcare?
- 4. What is your role in healthcare?
- 5. Do you feel there is a current gender pay gap with your line of work?
- 6. Do you have any questions before we begin?

Are you ready to proceed to the main questions related to: the perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare on Gender Pay Gap?

The Main Phase

What are the experiences and perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare who work with and address concerns regarding gender pay gaps?

Sub-question A: What are the perspectives of HR leaders in health care organizations towards possible gender pay differences?

Sub-question B: What are the perspectives of HR leaders in health care organizations toward possible facilitators that may assist with creating gender pay differences?

Sub-question C: What are the perspectives of people who identify as women towards pay difference in their field of healthcare?

I would like to take a moment to define gender pay gap: A measurement between men and women of the differences each receive based on hourly or salary earnings that work part-time or full-time (Hoff & Lee, 2021).

Probe1: Do you have any questions about gender pay or gender equity in healthcare?

Research Questions	Interview Questions
01 777 1	014 0
Q1: What are the experiences and	Q1A: Can you tell me about an experience
perceptions of HR leaders in healthcare	when you negotiated someone's pay based
who work with and address concerns	on their qualifications that may have been
regarding gender pay gaps?	similar or different to the job that you
	hired for?

Q1B: Can you tell me about a time when someone during an interview felt underpaid and underappreciated that will limit their ability to provide care to patients? Q1C: With physician shortages, specialties, medical professions and workers, can you tell me what ultimately dictates the final say on pay gap for hospitals, clinics, and medical offices? Q2: What are the perspectives of HR Q2A: Can you tell me about your leaders in health care organizations perception for the future of gender pay if towards possible gender pay differences? women were found in more leadership positions in healthcare? Q2B: Why do you feel that there is a constant gender pay gap between men and women found throughout the healthcare system in different roles? Q2C: Can you tell me your vision of the future in healthcare where men and

women are treated equally through pay, leadership, and career aspirations? Q3: What are the perspectives of HR Q3A: Do you feel that senior management leaders in health care organizations reviews and are aware of active gender toward possible facilitators that may assist pay gaps set by human resource leaders? with creating gender pay differences? Q3B: Can you tell me what the medical industry would be like today if women and men were treated equally through gender pay, leadership, and all health care professions and career aspirations? Q3C: Can you tell me how human resource leaders execute the pay of someone based on their qualifications and education? Q3D: If women served in human resource positions or senior financial leadership, can you tell me how women in those positions ensure there is fair pay and avoid the gender pay gap along with if they experience any barriers from male

	counterparts preventing them from
	upholding fair gender pay?
Q4: What are the perspectives of people	Q4A: Can you tell me about your
who identify as women towards pay	experience(s) with equal pay in your
difference in their field of healthcare?	profession?
	Q4B: Can you tell me when you might
	have been paid a different wage compared
	to a man in the same position as you?
	Q4C: Do you feel that HR leaders are
	aware of the ongoing gender pay gaps
	presently in healthcare?
	Q4D: Can you tell me about your
	struggles with knowledge of being
	underpaid compared to men in the same
	role as you?
	Q4E: Can you tell me about your
	obligations outside of your profession that
	can limit, prevent, or refrain you from
	working that men don't relate to?

That concludes my main questions, thank you. Do you have any questions or anything you would like to say now before we end?

I will be transcribing the audio recordings of these interviews to define some common themes related to perceptions on gender pay gap from HR leaders and females in healthcare roles. Please review the transcript for accuracy and send me any edits, and any additional information you would like to include. I will notify you in the next two weeks if any further action is needed beyond this. Do you have any questions?

Thank you for helping, feel free to contact me if you need any assistance